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Last year, we committed to delivering on our strategic 

objectives. We said we would sell non-strategic hotels, 

continue to pay down debt to further strengthen  

our balance sheet, achieve desired returns on our  

acquired and recently redeveloped hotels and provide  

a steady dividend to you, our stockholders. To do  

that, every business decision we made was designed 

to deliver on those commitments. This deliberate 

approach is paying off. We achieved greater financial  

flexibility and an improved portfolio, which will 

help ensure our success this year and in the future.  

FelCor’s business is stronger than ever — out-performing 

the industry and delivering superior stockholder value.   

1. The Fairmont Copley Plaza ˙ Boston, MA   2. The Mills House Wyndham Grand Hotel ˙ Charleston, SC   3. Embassy Suites ˙ Myrtle Beach-Oceanfront Resort, SC   
4. Marriott ˙ San Francisco-Union Square, CA   5. Royalton ˙ New York, NY   6. Morgans ˙ New York, NY   7. Embassy Suites ˙ Napa Valley, CA    
8. Renaissance Vinoy ˙ St. Petersburg Resort & Golf Club, FL   9. Renaissance Esmeralda ˙ Indian Wells Resort & Spa, CA



Our total interest expense declined $23 million, 

or 18%, as we continued to strengthen our 

balance sheet. We sold five non-strategic hotels  

for $103 million (with two more already sold  

this year for $41 million) and used the proceeds  

to repay debt. Finally, we made steady  

progress toward completing the Knickerbocker  

redevelopment. This hotel, which will open  

early this fall, will be the crown jewel of our  

portfolio — generating growing EBITDA  

and long-term value for FelCor. 

During 2014, we will be focused on 

completing our plan and fulfilling our 

commitment: sell the remaining non-

strategic hotels and use proceeds to repay 

debt; open and position the Knickerbocker 

for success; and continue operational 

improvement and achievement of desired 

returns at our acquired and recently 

redeveloped hotels. 

Our commitment to you is rooted in our  

culture and our values. Our success depends  

on a team of hard-working and devoted 

colleagues. Their commitment to FelCor  

and to one another is why FelCor is a  

‘Top 100 Workplace’ in Dallas-Fort Worth. 

t o  o u r  s T O C K h o l d e r s :
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$103M
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Knickerbocker Hotel 
New York, NY

FelCor had a great year in 2013. We reinstated a quarterly common dividend, a critical 

milestone of our strategic plan. Our comparable core hotels realized revenue per available 

room (RevPAR) growth of more than 8%, led by an 11% increase at our acquired 

and recently redeveloped hotels. Adjusted funds from operations (AFFO) increased  

70% to $0.39 per share.







S E L L I N G  N O N - S T RAT E G I C  H O T E L S

Our progress toward transforming the portfolio  

remains a source of pride. Selling non-strategic  

hotels improves our portfolio’s overall quality 

and geographic diversity, and enhances our  

return on invested capital.

During 2013, we sold five hotels for $103 

million and agreed to sell two more hotels 

for $41 million (which we subsequently 

sold in 2014). As of today, we have 19 non-

strategic hotels remaining to sell. Ten of the  

hotels are owned in a joint venture with 

one of our brand-managers. We are working 

diligently to unwind that joint venture,  

as a consequence of which we would own  

five of those hotels outright (our joint venture  

partner would own the other five). Upon 

completion, we would then have 14 hotels 

remaining to sell, most of which we expect 

to sell during 2014. 

Our 39 core hotels are located in markets 

with high barriers-to-entry that are expected 

to enjoy high EBITDA and RevPAR growth. 

Our comparable core hotels generated RevPAR  

of $127 in 2013, compared to $84 for the  

non-strategic hotels, while Hotel EBITDA 

in 2013 at our comparable core hotels 

increased 13%, compared to 6% for the 

non-strategic hotels. 

S T R E N G T H E N I N G  O U R  

B A L A N C E  S H E E T

Our increasingly strong balance sheet lives  

at the core of our strategy. It provides us with 

the flexibility we need to grow, compete, 

and to thrive through economic cycles.  

We will continue to focus on improving our 

balance sheet by selling non-strategic hotels 

and using the net proceeds to repay debt. 

We will repay nearly $400 million of debt, 

including all of our 2014 maturities, as well  

as other high-cost secured debt.

After repaying that debt, we will have 

restructured our balance sheet with no 

near-term maturities and an average debt 

maturity of 2021. Furthermore, we expect 

to achieve an average borrowing cost of 

roughly 5.9% (the lowest in FelCor’s history), 

compared to 6.3% today, with roughly 90% 

of the debt bearing a fixed interest rate.

Additionally, as EBITDA stabilizes (primarily 

at our acquired and recently redeveloped 

hotels), we will reach our target leverage (debt 

to adjusted EBITDA) of 5.0x. In addition,  

we expect interest coverage (adjusted 

EBITDA to interest expense) will improve 

significantly to above 3.0x.  

t h e  m i l l s  h o u s e
W Y N D H A M  G R A N D 

C H A R L E S T O N ,  S C

The Mills House is an iconic hotel  

located in Charleston’s über charming  

historic downtown. We converted 

this hotel, along with seven others, 

from Holiday Inn to Wyndham 

brands and management in 2013, 

as part of a 10-year agreement 

with Wyndham Hotel Group. As a  

Wyndham Grand, the property 

underwent an $8 million renovation  

to reposition it from midscale to  

luxury, which illustrates our strategy  

to maximize real estate value and, 

thereby, increase stockholder value.
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The Mills House Wyndham Grand 
Charleston, SC



O P E RAT I O N S

Lodging industry fundamentals remain 

strong, and the industry continues to enjoy 

a favorable imbalance between demand 

and supply growth. RevPAR in the United 

States increased 5.4% during 2013,  

driven by occupancy and average rate 

growth of 1.5% and 3.9%, respectively. 

The outlook for supply growth remains 

favorable, as new construction of hotels  

in the U.S. has fallen nearly 60% since  

2007 and remains near historical lows.  

As demand growth outpaces new supply, 

average occupancy will increase, providing 

further opportunity to increase average 

rates. PKF, a leading lodging consultant, 

expects RevPAR in the U.S. to grow 6.6% 

during 2014 and 7.5% during 2015.  

FelCor’s operating results exceeded our 

expectations during 2013, with RevPAR 

increasing 7.1% at our comparable hotels.  

Our portfolio again outperformed the  

industry, reflecting our strategically-located, 

high-quality portfolio. Our comparable  

core hotels performed even better —  

with RevPAR growth of more than 8%,  

led by an 11% increase at our acquired and 

recently redeveloped hotels. As occupancy 

continues recovering from recession-era lows, 

our portfolio occupancy has nearly reached 

prior-peak levels, and our hotels are taking 

advantage of the favorable supply/demand 

imbalance by capturing more premium  

guests, such as corporate transient,  

which comprise almost 50% of our room 

nights. As our properties replace discount 

business with premium customers, 

average rates increase. To maximize return 

on this opportunity, we work daily with the 

operators to ensure our hotels achieve the 

optimal customer mix and take advantage  

of the strong demand in the market.  
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The Fairmont Copley Plaza 
Boston, MA
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R E D E V E L O P M E N T  P R O J E C T S

During 2013, our acquired and recently 

redeveloped hotels continued to perform 

very well, as Hotel EBITDA grew an average 

of 28%. EBITDA at the Fairmont Copley 

Plaza in Boston (which was redeveloped 

in 2012) grew an outstanding 83% in 2013. 

We also completed the redevelopment at 

Morgans last year, adding three guest rooms, 

a new fitness facility, a library and a new 

restaurant and lounge. We expect EBITDA 

growth at Morgans, over the next few years, 

to mirror the other redeveloped hotels,  

as it benefits from our capital investment  

and intense asset management practices.

In March 2013, we converted eight former 

Holiday Inn hotels. Our properties in Boston,  

Houston, New Orleans, Philadelphia, 

Pittsburgh, San Diego and Santa Monica 

were rebranded to Wyndham Hotels, and 

The Mills House in Charleston became a  

Wyndham Grand hotel. Wyndham Worldwide  

Corporation is providing a $100 million 

guaranty through 2023, ensuring a minimum 

annual NOI for the eight hotels and protecting 

approximately 20% of our EBITDA from 

cyclical and economic fluctuations, in addition 

to ensuring returns on investment that are 

superior to the hotels’ historical performance. 

While these hotels experienced disruption 

from the change in management and brand 

last year, they should produce RevPAR 

growth well above the portfolio average this 

year, as the disruption subsides.

The iconic Knickerbocker hotel in Manhattan  

will reopen early this fall as a four-plus star 

hotel. Located at Broadway and 42nd Street, 

the Knickerbocker enjoys an incomparable 

address for both business and leisure 

travelers. As FelCor’s flagship, the hotel 

will feature 330-guestrooms averaging 

more than 420 square feet and several food 

and beverage outlets, including a rooftop 

sky bar and lounge directly overlooking 

Times Square. The hotel’s executive team 

is in place and fully engaged to ensure a 

successful and strong opening. Earlier this 

year, we finalized an agreement with Charlie 

Palmer, one of the nation’s most recognized 

master chefs, to manage the food and 

beverage operations. Mr. Palmer’s Michelin-

starred Aureole is located across 42nd Street 

from the hotel and offers coordinated sales 

and marketing opportunities.

M o r g a n s 

N E W  Y O R K ,  N Y

Morgans, the original “boutique” 

hotel, is located in the heart of 

midtown Manhattan, one of New 

York’s most dynamic and desirable 

neighborhoods. When we purchased 

the hotel in 2011, we recognized an 

opportunity to improve operations 

significantly and maximize real 

estate value. Since then, FelCor has 

added three guest rooms and built 

new fitness and restaurant/bar 

facilities (completed in 2013) and  

implemented revenue and customer 

mix strategies to increase average 

rate. These efforts illustrate how  

we use capital to improve our 

properties performance and, thereby,  

increase stockholder value.
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Morgans 
New York, NY



O U R  C O M M I T M E N T

You are invested in a first-class real estate 

company with a strong and flexible balance 

sheet and a high-quality, diverse portfolio 

that outperforms the industry and its peers. 

Over the foreseeable future, our EBITDA 

and FFO will continue to grow significantly, 

as the Knickerbocker opens and stabilizes, 

our other acquired and recently redeveloped 

hotels benefit from capital investments,  

and our remaining portfolio capitalizes on the 

strong industry fundamentals. As EBITDA 

grows and we repay debt with asset sale 

proceeds, our balance sheet will be even 

stronger, with low leverage, ample liquidity 

and significant free cash flow generation.

This year marks the end of one chapter in our 

transformation. The next chapter is entirely 

about building on that great foundation to 

deliver superior results and build long-term 

stockholder value. We will maintain a flexible 

and enduring balance sheet that has a low 

cost of capital and strong liquidity, which will 

ensure our ability to weather future economic 

downturns — and to profit from them —  

thereby building stockholder value throughout 

the cycle. We will proactively seek the best 

opportunities that will further improve our 

portfolio quality and growth rates, as well 

as opportunities that further improve our 

balance sheet. We will create additional 

balance sheet capacity for these opportunities 

by continually selling lower growth hotels. 

We will deploy that capital prudently and 

diligently and in ways that provide the best 

return for stockholders — whether that  

entails acquisitions in our target markets,  

further lowering our cost of capital or executing  

one or more of the several redevelopment 

projects that are currently in the approval and 

entitlement stage. These investments yield 

strong returns, which will provide FelCor with 

outstanding long-term growth.  

This is our commitment to you.

Sincerely, 
 
 

Richard A. Smith 

President & CEO

 
 

Tom Corcoran 

Chairman of the Board
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Embassy Suites 
Mandalay Beach Hotel & Resort, CA

r e v e n u e s

Percentage of total revenues,  
pro forma for Knickerbocker  

(as stabilized)
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O U R  P O R T F O L I O  O F  C H O I C E  P R O P E R T I E S

E A S T

M A S S A C H U S E T T S

Fairmont Copley Plaza 
Boston

Embassy Suites 
Boston/Marlborough

Wyndham 
Boston-Beacon Hill

N E W  J E R S E Y

Embassy Suites 
Secaucus-Meadowlands

N E W  Y O R K

The Knickerbocker 

Morgans New York

Royalton New York

P E N N S Y L V A N I A

Sheraton Society Hill 
Philadelphia 

Wyndham 
Philadelphia-Historic District

Wyndham 
Pittsburgh-University Center

S O U T H  C A R O L I N A

The Mills House  
Wyndham Grand Hotel 
Charleston

Embassy Suites 
Myrtle Beach-Oceanfront Resort

Hilton 
Myrtle Beach Resort

V E R M O N T

Sheraton 
Burlington Hotel &  
Conference Center

S O U T H

A L A B A M A

Embassy Suites 
Birmingham

F L O R I D A

Embassy Suites 
Deerfield Beach Resort & Spa

Embassy Suites 
Fort Lauderdale-17th Street

Embassy Suites 
Miami-International Airport

DoubleTree Suites by Hilton 
Walt Disney World Resort

Embassy Suites 
Orlando-International Drive 
South/Convention

Renaissance Vinoy 
St. Petersburg Resort & Golf Club

Holiday Inn 
Orlando-International Airport

G E O R G I A

Embassy Suites 
Atlanta-Buckhead

L O U I S I A N A

Holiday Inn Chateau 
LeMoyne 
New Orleans-French Quarter

Wyndham 
New Orleans-French Quarter

T E N N E S S E E

Holiday Inn 
Nashville-Opryland-Airport 
(Briley Parkway)

T E X A S

DoubleTree Suites by Hilton 
Austin

Embassy Suites 
Dallas-Love Field

Wyndham Hotel & Suites 
Houston-Medical Center

W E S T

A R I Z O N A

Embassy Suites 
Phoenix-Biltmore

C A L I F O R N I A

Renaissance Esmeralda 
Indian Wells Resort & Spa

Embassy Suites 
Los Angeles-International 
Airport/South

Embassy Suites 
Mandalay Beach-Hotel & Resort

Embassy Suites 
Napa Valley

Wyndham 
San Diego-Bayside

Embassy Suites 
San Francisco-Airport/
Waterfront

Embassy Suites 
San Francisco-Airport/South 
San Francisco

Holiday Inn 
San Francisco-Fisherman’s 
Wharf

Marriott 
San Francisco-Union Square

Embassy Suites 
Milpitas

Wyndham 
Santa Monica-At the Pier

M I D W E S T

M I N N E S O T A

Embassy Suites 
Minneapolis-Airport

H o t e l s 

i d e n t i f i e d  

f o r  s a l e

Embassy Suites 
Atlanta-Perimeter Center

Sheraton Gateway 
Atlanta-Airport

Embassy Suites 
Austin-Central

Embassy Suites 
Baltimore-at BWI Airport

Embassy Suites 
Charlotte

DoubleTree Suites by Hilton 
Charlotte-SouthPark

Embassy Suites 
Chicago-Lombard/Oak Brook

Westin 
Dallas-Park Central

DoubleTree Suites by Hilton 
Doheny Beach-Dana Point

Embassy Suites 
Indianapolis-North

Embassy Suites 
Kansas City-Plaza

Embassy Suites 
Kansas City/Overland Park

Holiday Inn 
Orlando-International Airport

Embassy Suites 
Parsippany

Embassy Suites 
Raleigh-Crabtree

Embassy Suites 
San Antonio-International 
Airport

Embassy Suites 
San Antonio-NW I-10

Embassy Suites 
San Rafael-Marin County

Holiday Inn 
Toronto-Yorkdale
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Selected Financial Data 
 

The following tables set forth selected financial data derived from our audited consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes.  This data should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and our audited consolidated financial statements 
and the related notes. 
 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
(in millions, except per share data) 

 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009 
Statement of Operations Data:(a)           

Total revenues  $ 893   $ 862   $ 808   $ 730   $ 683  
Loss from continuing operations(b)  (84 )  (187 )  (134 )  (100 )  (89 ) 

           
Diluted earnings per share:           

Loss from continuing operations  $ (0.95 )  $ (1.81 )  $ (1.46 )  $ (1.70 )  $ (2.01 ) 
           

Other Data:           
Cash distributions declared per common 

share(c)  $ 0.02   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —  
Adjusted FFO per share (d)  $ 0.39   $ 0.23   $ 0.14   $ (0.09 )  $ 0.39  
Adjusted EBITDA(d)  200   203   203   188   179  
Cash flows provided by operating activities  68   47   46   59   73  

           
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):           

Total assets  $ 2,144   $ 2,202   $ 2,403   $ 2,359   $ 2,626  
Total debt, net of discount  1,663   1,631   1,596   1,548   1,773  
FelCor’s redeemable noncontrolling 

interests in FelCor LP, at redemption value  5   3   3   2   1  
 

(a) Hotels that we no longer own are included in discontinued operations. 
(b) We include the following amounts in loss from continuing operations (in millions): 

 
   Year Ended December 31, 
   2013  2012  2011  2010  2009 
 Impairment loss  $ (24 )   $ —    $ (4 )   $ (41 )   $ —  
 Impairment loss on unconsolidated hotels  —    —    —    —    (2 ) 
 Hurricane loss  —    (1 )   —    —    —  
 Debt extinguishment  —    (72 )   (28 )   45    (2 ) 

 Conversion expenses  (1 )   (31 )   —    —    —  
 Pre-opening expenses  (2 )   —    —    —    —  
 Severance expenses  (3 )   (1 )   —    —    —  
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(c) Our Board of Directors reinstated a quarterly common dividend in October 2013 in 
recognition of our ongoing and successful portfolio repositioning and balance sheet 
restructuring, as well as our positive funds available for distribution (“FAD”) during 2013.  At 
that time, we declared a $0.02 per share fourth quarter common stock dividend, which was 
paid in January.  Future quarterly dividends will be based on estimates of FAD, reinvestment 
opportunities within our portfolio and taxable income, among other things. 

 
(d) We include a more detailed description and computation of Adjusted FFO per share and 

Adjusted EBITDA in “Non-GAAP Financial Measures,” which is found in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Strong demand and tepid supply growth has created a favorable dynamic to improve average daily 
rate, or ADR, driving 2013 growth in revenue per available room, or RevPAR.  In 2013, our RevPAR 
improved 3.8%, compared to the prior year, and ADR grew 3.4%, while occupancy increased 30 basis points 
as we continued to remix our customer base in favor of higher-rated segments.  The RevPAR for our 51 
comparable hotels (our Consolidated Hotels excluding the Wyndham portfolio) increased 7.1% in 2013 
compared to the same period last year.  Sustained ADR growth has allowed our hotels to improve Hotel 
EBITDA margins (up 99 basis points, compared to the prior year).   

We have made continued progress toward achieving our strategic objectives: 

•  Since December 2010, we have sold 25 hotels (including 5 hotels sold in 2013 and one sold in January 
2014), for total gross proceeds of $549 million (our pro rata share was $504 million). 

•  The eight Wyndham hotels were successfully rebranded from Holiday Inn to Wyndham on March 1, 
2013.  RevPAR for the Wyndham portfolio declined 14.6%  in 2013 compared to the same period last 
year, which reflects the impact of transitioning brands and management companies, particularly related 
renovations.  Revenues at these hotels should improve meaningfully as transition-related disruption 
subsides. As previously disclosed, Wyndham Worldwide Corporation has provided a 10-year $100 million 
performance guaranty (which can be extended for an additional five years), including an annual 
performance guaranty of up to $21.5 million, that ensures minimum annual NOI for the eight hotels 
through the term of the management agreements.   

•  Our Board of Directors reinstated a quarterly common dividend in October 2013 in recognition of our 
ongoing and successful portfolio repositioning and balance sheet restructuring, as well as our positive 
funds available for distribution (“FAD”) during 2013.  At that time, we declared a $0.02 per share fourth 
quarter common stock dividend, which was paid in January.  Future quarterly dividends will be based on 
estimates of FAD, reinvestment opportunities within our portfolio and taxable income, among other 
things. 

•  In 2013, we spent $101.4 million on capital expenditures, primarily for renovation and redevelopment of 
our hotels.  During this time, we redeveloped Morgans by adding three new guest rooms, building a brand 
new fitness facility, relocating the lounge and reconcepting the food and beverage areas.  We also 
completed significant renovations at four of our Wyndham properties.  Of the remaining four Wyndham 
properties, two were recently renovated in 2012, and the remaining two will be renovated in 2014.   

•  We have spent $65.3 million (excluding the initial acquisition costs and capitalized interest) through 
December 31, 2013 to redevelop the 4+ star Knickerbocker Hotel, located in the heart of Times Square in 
Manhattan.  Our total project cost is expected to be $240 million (net of historic tax credits), which is 
within 5% of our original estimate.  We expect the hotel to open in early fall, as winter weather delays 
have slightly disrupted the schedule.  The hotel’s executive team is in place and fully engaged in the sales 
and marketing efforts to ensure a successful and strong opening.  In early 2014, we finalized an 
agreement with one of the nation’s most recognized Master Chefs, Charlie Palmer, to manage the food 
and beverage operations.  Mr. Palmer’s flagship restaurant, the Michelin-starred Aureole, is located 
adjacent to the hotel, which will create sales and marketing synergies. 

•  Our Knickerbocker Hotel venture raised $45 million through the sale of 3.5% preferred equity under the 
EB-5 immigrant investor program.  The venture received $40 million in proceeds in February 2014, and 
the remaining $5 million will be received as investors’ visas are approved by the government.  We are 
using our 95% share of the proceeds to repay borrowings under our line of credit. 
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Financial Comparison (Hotel EBITDA and Loss from continuing operations, in millions) 
 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 

  2013  2012  
% Change 

2013-12  2011   
% Change 

2012-11 
RevPAR(a)  $ 108.83    $ 104.84    3.8 %   $ 99.54    5.3 %  
Hotel EBITDA(a)(b)  230    213    7.7 %   199    7.2 %  
Hotel EBITDA margin(a)(b)  25.8 %   24.8 %   4.0 %   24.3 %   2.0 %  
Loss from continuing operations(c)  (84 )   (187 )   55.3 %   (134 )   (40.2 )%  

 
(a) All years presented are for our 59 same-store Consolidated Hotels. 
(b) Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin are non-GAAP financial measures.  A discussion of 

the use, limitations and importance of these non-GAAP financial measures and detailed 
reconciliations to the most comparable GAAP measure are found below in “Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures.” 

 
(c) We included the following amounts in loss from continuing operations (in millions): 

 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
Impairment loss  (24 )   —    (4 )  
Hurricane loss  —    (1 )   —   
Debt extinguishment  —    (72 )   (28 )  
Conversion expenses  (1 )   (31 )   —   
Pre-opening expenses  (2 )   —    —   
Severance expenses  (3 )   (1 )   —   
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Results of Operations 
 
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  
 

For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded a $65.8 million net loss compared to a 
$129.4 million net loss in 2012.  Our 2013 net loss included $28.8 million of impairment charges (including 
$4.4 million in discontinued operations), offset by a $19.4 million net gain on sale of hotels included in 
discontinued operations (primarily from the sale of five hotels).  Our 2012 net loss included $31.2 million of 
conversion costs related to re-branding and re-positioning eight hotels, a $75.1 million loss from the 
extinguishment of debt (including $2.8 million in discontinued operations), $1.3 million in hurricane-related 
charges (including $478,000 in discontinued operations), and $1.3 million of impairment charges included in 
discontinued operations.  These 2012 charges were partially offset by a $54.5 million net gain on sale of hotels 
included in discontinued operations.   

 
In 2013: 
 

•  Total revenue was $893.4 million, 3.6% more than 2012.  The increase was driven by 3.8% same-store 
RevPAR growth, reflecting a 3.4% increase in ADR and a 30 basis point increase in occupancy. 

 
•  Hotel departmental expenses increased $11.0 million.  As a percentage of total revenue, hotel 

departmental expenses decreased slightly from 36.7% in 2012 to 36.6% in 2013.   
 
•  Other property-related costs increased $6.2 million.  As a percentage of total revenue, other property-

related costs decreased from 26.9% in 2012 to 26.7% in 2013.  This improvement primarily reflects 
revenue increases driven by ADR, rather than occupancy.   

 
•  Management and franchise fees decreased $4.1 million.  As a percentage of total revenue, these costs 

decreased from 4.6% in 2012 to 4.0% in 2013.  We converted eight hotels to Wyndham brands and 
management on March 1, 2013.  Wyndham earns lower management fees than the prior management 
company.  In addition, Wyndham’s guaranty of a minimum level of net operating income reduced 
Wyndham’s management fees in 2013.  These arrangements with Wyndham more than offset increases in 
fees resulting from higher revenue.  

 
•  Taxes, insurance and lease expense increased $4.0 million and increased slightly as a percentage of total 

revenue from 10.7% in 2012 to 10.8% in 2013.  The increase in expense reflects higher percentage lease 
expense (computed as a percentage of hotel revenues in excess of base rent; as revenue increases, 
percentage rent increases at a faster rate than other expenses), higher property taxes (in 2012 we 
achieved significant reductions after appeals), and higher general liability insurance (due to a more 
favorable claims experience in 2012). 

 
•  Corporate expenses increased $868,000 and remained relatively flat as a percentage of total revenue 

compared to 2012.  This increase primarily reflects additional fixed and variable stock compensation 
expense associated with our incentive compensation awards. 

 
•  Depreciation and amortization expense increased $3.2 million, primarily reflecting additional 

depreciation after investing $101.4 million in our hotels in 2013 and $121.5 million in 2012. 
 

•  Impairment loss. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded $24.4 million of impairment 
charges for two hotels included in continuing operations after we reduced their estimated hold periods.  
No impairment charges were included in continuing operations for 2012. 
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•  Conversion expenses.  We classified expenses related to converting eight Holiday Inn hotels to 
Wyndham brands and management as conversion expense in 2013 and 2012.  The expenses incurred in 
2012 include $30.7 million of termination fees related to terminating the management agreements with 
IHG. 

 
•  Other expenses increased $4.1 million compared to 2012, primarily related to severance costs for certain 

employees and pre-opening costs for the Knickerbocker Hotel, which were partially offset by non-
recurring hurricane-related charges incurred in 2012.  
 

•  Net interest expense decreased $17.8 million, primarily reflecting our lower average interest rate.  Lower 
interest rates in 2013 were partially offset by an increase in average debt for the year, as well as less 
capitalized interest attributable to renovation and redevelopment projects. 

 
•  Debt extinguishment.  For the year ended December 31, 2013, we had no debt extinguishment charges in 

continuing operations, while continuing operations for 2012 included $72.4 million in debt 
extinguishment charges.  These charges included $17.4 million of prepayment penalties and the write-off 
of deferred loan costs recorded when we repaid $315.1 million of loans secured by properties in 
continuing operations.  In addition, when we redeemed $258.0 million of our 10% senior notes, we 
recognized a $55.0 million debt extinguishment charge for prepayment penalties, as well as a pro rata 
portion of the original issue discount and deferred loan costs. 

 
•  Discontinued operations include the results of operations for one hotel designated as held for sale at 

December 31, 2013, five hotels sold in 2013, and ten hotels sold in 2012.  Discontinued operations in 
2013 included a $19.4 million net gain on sale (primarily related to the sale of five hotels), offset by a 
$4.4 million impairment charge for one hotel sold in 2013 and one hotel designated as held for sale at 
December 31, 2013.  Discontinued operations in 2012 included a $54.5 million net gain on the sale of 
hotels, offset by $2.8 million in debt extinguishment charges and a $1.3 million impairment charge.  

 
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and  2011  
 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recorded a $129.4 million net loss compared to a 
$130.9 million net loss in 2011.  Our 2012 net loss included $31.2 million of conversion costs related to re-
branding and re-positioning eight hotels, a $75.1 million loss from the extinguishment of debt (including $2.8 
million in discontinued operations), $1.3 million in hurricane-related charges (including $478,000 in 
discontinued operations),  and $1.3 million of impairment charges included in discontinued operations.  These 
losses are partially offset by $54.5 million of net gains from hotel dispositions included in discontinued 
operations.  Our 2011 net loss included $13.2 million of impairment charges (including $8.9 million in 
discontinued operations) and $24.3 million of net losses from debt extinguishment ($27.6 million in continuing 
operations offset by a $3.3 million gain on debt extinguishment in discontinued operations), partially offset by 
$4.7 million of net gains from hotel dispositions included in discontinued operations.   

 
In 2012: 

•  Total revenue was $862.1 million, 6.6% more than 2011.  This increase was primarily driven by a 5.3% 
increase in same-store RevPAR reflecting a 6.1% increase in ADR (partially offset by a 51 basis point 
decrease in occupancy), as well as $11.5 million in incremental revenue from Royalton and Morgans, 
acquired in May 2011.  Several of our core hotels were under significant renovation or redevelopment 
during 2012. 
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•  Hotel departmental expenses increased $18.8 million (including $6.8 million of incremental hotel 

departmental expenses at Royalton and Morgans).  As a percentage of total revenue, hotel departmental 
expenses decreased slightly from 36.8% in 2011 to 36.7% in 2012.  Margin improvement from ADR was 
offset, in part, by decreasing food and beverage margins. 

 
•  Other property-related costs increased $11.0 million due to a combination of higher costs (such as 

marketing programs) and $3.5 million of incremental other property-related costs at Royalton and 
Morgans.  As a percentage of total revenue, other property-related costs decreased from 27.3% to 26.9% 
compared to 2011.  This improvement primarily reflects revenue increases driven by ADR as opposed to 
occupancy.   

 
•  Management and franchise fees increased $2.4 million compared to 2011, primarily reflecting higher 

revenues (which serve as the basis for determining such fees).  As a percentage of total revenue, these 
costs remained essentially unchanged from the same period in 2011.  

 
•  Taxes, insurance and lease expense increased $9.0 million (including $999,000 of incremental taxes, 

insurance, and lease expenses at Royalton and Morgans) and increased as a percentage of total revenue 
from 10.3% to 10.7% compared to 2011.  The higher percentage of revenue reflects more favorable 
liability claims in 2011 in addition to lower estimated Canadian taxes in 2011. 

 
•  Corporate expenses decreased $3.0 million (decreasing as a percentage of total revenue from 3.6% to 

3.0%), which reflects: (i) lower restricted stock amortization in 2012, as a significant amount of 
restricted stock vested in 2011, and (ii) lower payroll tax withholding with respect to restricted cash 
awards, which were lower in 2012 than in 2011.  We recognize payroll tax withholding on these awards 
as an expense when awarded rather than amortizing that expense over the three-year vesting periods (as 
is the case with the remainder of the awards). 

 
•  Depreciation and amortization expense increased $5.9 million compared to 2011, including $1.3 million 

of incremental depreciation expense related to Royalton and Morgans.  The remainder of the increase 
primarily reflects depreciation associated with hotel capital expenditures of $89.0 million in 2011 and 
$121.5 million in 2012.   
 

•  Impairment loss. In 2012, no impairment charges were included in continuing operations, while 2011 
continuing operations included a $4.3 million charge for one hotel.  That charge was based on a revised 
estimated fair value obtained through the marketing process that was lower than the net book value for 
that hotel.  

 
•  Conversion expenses.  In the fourth quarter of 2012, we decided to convert eight Holiday Inn hotels to 

the Wyndham brand and management effective March 1, 2013.  The expenses incurred related to 
converting these hotels were classified as conversion expenses in our statements of operations and 
include $30.7 million of IHG termination fees for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 
•  Other expenses increased $609,000 compared to 2011 because of 2012 hurricane-related charges and 

other expenses, partially offset by lower acquisition costs. 
 

•  Net interest expense decreased $4.5 million compared to 2011, which primarily reflects increased 
capitalized interest related to the Knickerbocker Hotel development partially offset by an increase in our 
average effective interest rate. 
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•  Debt extinguishment charges in continuing operatons during the year ended December 31, 2012 were 

$72.4 million.  These charges include $17.4 million of prepayment penalties and the write-off of deferred 
loan costs primarily related to repaying $315.1 million in mortgage debt secured by properties in 
continuing operations.  In addition, we redeemed $258.0 million of our 10% senior notes and recognized 
a $55.0 million debt extinguishment charge related to prepayment penalties, as well as a pro rata portion 
of the original issue discount and deferred loan costs.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, we 
redeemed $144.0 million of our 10% senior notes and recognized a $27.4 million debt extinguishment 
charge related to prepayment penalties, and the write-off of a pro rata portion of the original issue 
discount and deferred loan costs. 

 
•  Discontinued operations include the results of operations for one hotel designated as held for sale at 

December 31, 2013, five hotels sold in 2013, ten hotels sold in 2012, and eight hotels sold in 2011.  
Discontinued operations in 2012 included a $54.5 million net gain on the sale of hotels, offset by 
$2.8 million in debt extinguishment charges and a $1.3 million impairment charge.  Discontinued 
operations in 2011 reflects a $4.7 million net gain on the sale of hotels, $3.3 million in net gains from 
debt extinguishment and $8.9 million in impairment charges. 

 
Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
 

We refer in this Annual Report to certain “non-GAAP financial measures.”  These measures, including FFO, 
Adjusted FFO, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin, are measures of our 
financial performance that are not calculated and presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, or GAAP.  The following tables reconcile these non-GAAP measures to FelCor’s most comparable GAAP 
financial measure.  Immediately following the reconciliations, we include a discussion of why we believe these 
measures are useful supplemental measures of our performance and of the limitations upon such measures. 
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The following tables detail our computation of FFO and Adjusted FFO (in thousands, except for per share 
data): 

Reconciliation of Net Loss to FFO and Adjusted FFO 
(in thousands, except per share data) 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 

 

 
 

Dollars  

 
 

Shares  

Per 
Share 

Amount  

 
 

Dollars  

 
 

Shares  

Per 
Share 

Amount  

 
 

Dollars  

 
 

Shares  

Per 
Share 

Amount 
Net loss $ (65,783 )      $ (129,414 )      $ (130,895 )     

Noncontrolling interests 4,279       1,407       1,041      
Preferred dividends (38,713 )      (38,713 )      (38,713 )     

Numerator for basic and 
diluted loss attributable to 
common stockholders (100,217 )  123,818 

 

 $ (0.81 )  (166,720 )  123,634 

 

 $ (1.35 )  (168,567 )  117,068 

 

 $ (1.44 ) 
Depreciation and 

amortization 119,624 
 
 — 

 
 0.97 

 
 116,384 

 
 — 

 
 0.94 

 
 110,498 

 
 — 

 
 0.94 

 

Depreciation, discontinued 
operations and 
unconsolidated entities 15,996 

 

 — 

 

 0.13 

 

 24,216 

 

 — 

 

 0.20 

 

 40,870 

 

 — 

 

 0.35 

 

Gain on involuntary 
conversion, net of 
noncontrolling interests in 
other partnerships (37 )  — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 (295 )  — 

 

 — 

 

Loss (gain) on involuntary 
conversion, discontinued 
operations, net of 
noncontrolling interests in 
other partnerships (59 )  — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 15 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

Impairment loss, net of 
noncontrolling interests in 
other partnerships 20,382 

 

 — 

 

 0.16 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 4,315 

 

 — 

 

 0.04 

 

Impairment loss, 
discontinued operations 4,354 

 
 — 

 
 0.04 

 
 1,335 

 
 — 

 
 0.01 

 
 8,935 

 
 — 

 
 0.08 

 

Gain on sale of hotels, net 
of noncontrolling interests 
in other partnerships (18,590 )  — 

 

 (0.15 )  (54,459 )  — 

 

 (0.44 )  (4,714 )  — 

 

 (0.04 ) 
Noncontrolling interests in 

FelCor LP (497 )  619 
 
 (0.01 )  (842 )  628 

 
 — 

 
 (689 )  499 

 
 (0.01 ) 

Conversion of unvested 
restricted stock — 

 
 547 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 

FFO 40,956   124,984   0.33   (80,086 )  124,262   (0.64 )  (9,632 )  117,567   (0.08 ) 
Acquisition costs 23   —   —   132   —   —   1,479   —   0.01  
Hurricane loss —   —   —   792   —   0.01   —   —   —  
Hurricane loss, discontinued 

operations and 
unconsolidated entities — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 482 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

Debt extinguishment, 
including discontinued 
operations — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 75,117 

 

 — 

 

 0.60 

 

 24,381 

 

 — 

 

 0.21 

 

Conversion expenses 1,134   —   0.01   31,197   —   0.25   —   —   —  
Variable stock compensation 963   —   0.01   —   —   —   —   —   —  
Severance costs 3,268   —   0.02   553   —   —   —   —   —  
Abandoned projects —   —   —   219   —   —   —   —   —  
Pre-opening costs, net of 

noncontrolling interests 2,314 
 
 — 

 
 0.02 

 
 398 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 

Conversion of unvested 
restricted stock — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 11 

 
 0.01 

 
 — 

 
 175 

 
 — 

 

Adjusted FFO $ 48,658   124,984   $ 0.39   $ 28,804   124,273   $ 0.23   $ 16,228   117,742   $ 0.14  
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Reconciliation of Net Loss to FFO and Adjusted FFO 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
 
 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2010 2009 

 

 
 

Dollars  

 
 

Shares  

Per 
Share 

Amount  

 
 

Dollars  

 
 

Shares  

Per 
Share 

Amount 
Net loss $ (225,837 )      $ (109,091 )     
Noncontrolling interests 2,796       969      
Preferred dividends (38,713 )      (38,713 )     
Numerator for basic and diluted loss attributable 

to common stockholders (261,754 )  80,611   $ (3.25 )  (146,835 )  63,114   $ (2.33 ) 
Depreciation and amortization 108,226   —   1.34   106,015   —   1.68  
Depreciation, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities 54,000   —   0.67   58,634   —   0.93  
Impairment loss 41,214   —   0.51   —   —   —  
Impairment loss, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities 131,762   —   1.63   5,516   —   0.09  
Gain on sale of hotels —   —   —   (910 )  —   (0.01 ) 
Gain on sale of unconsolidated entities (21,103 )  —   (0.26 )  —   —   —  
Noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP (881 )  294   (0.01 )  (672 )  296   (0.02 ) 
Conversion of unvested restricted stock —   505   —   —   331   —  
FFO 51,464   81,410   0.63   21,748   63,741   0.34  
Acquisition costs 449   —   0.01   —   —   —  
Debt extinguishment, including discontinued 

operations (59,465 )  —   (0.73 )  1,721   —   0.02  
Conversion expenses —   —   —   447   —   0.01  
Severance costs —   —   —   612   —   0.01  
Lease termination costs —   —   —   469   —   0.01  
Conversion of unvested restricted stock —   (505 )  —   —   —   —  
Adjusted FFO $ (7,552 )  80,905   $ (0.09 )  $ 24,997   63,741   $ 0.39  
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The following table details our computation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA: 
 

Reconciliation of Net Loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
(in thousands) 

 
 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011  2010  2009 
Net loss $ (65,783 )  $ (129,414 )  $ (130,895 )  $ (225,837 )  $ (109,091 ) 

Depreciation and amortization 119,624   116,384   110,498   108,226   106,015  
Depreciation, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities 15,996   24,216   40,870   54,000   58,634  
Interest expense 103,865   121,690   126,278   127,145   87,675  
Interest expense, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities 3,496   8,586   14,272   22,364   22,386  
Noncontrolling interests in other partnerships 3,782   565   352   1,915   297  

EBITDA 180,980   142,027   161,375   87,813   165,916  
Impairment loss, net of noncontrolling interests 

in other partnerships 20,382   —   4,315   41,214   —  
Impairment loss, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities 4,354   1,335   8,935   131,762   5,516  
Hurricane loss —   792   —   —   —  
Hurricane loss, discontinued operations and 

unconsolidated entities —   482   —   —   —  
Debt extinguishment, including discontinued 

operations —   75,117   24,381   (59,465 )  1,721  
Acquisition costs 23   132   1,479   449   —  
Amortization of fixed stock and directors’ 

compensation 5,570   5,003   7,170   7,445   5,165  
Severance costs 3,268   553   —   —   612  
Lease termination costs —   —   —   —   469  
Abandoned projects —   219   —   —   —  
Conversion expenses 1,134   31,197   —   —   447  
Variable stock compensation 963   —   —   —   —  
Pre-opening costs, net of noncontrolling interests 2,314   398   —   —   —  
Gain on sale of hotels, net of noncontrolling 

interests in other partnerships (18,590 )  (54,459 )  (4,714 )  —   (910 ) 
Gain on involuntary conversion, net of 

noncontrolling interests in other partnerships (37 )  —   (295 )  —   —  
Loss (gain) on involuntary conversion, 

discontinued operations, net of noncontrolling 
interests in other partnerships (59 )  —   15   —   —  

Gain on sale of unconsolidated entities —   —   —   (21,103 )  —  
Adjusted EBITDA $ 200,302   $ 202,796   $ 202,661   $ 188,115   $ 178,936  
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The following tables for our 59 same-store Consolidated Hotels detail our computation of Hotel EBITDA, 
Hotel EBITDA margin, same-store operating revenue and expenses, and includes the reconciliation of same-
store operating revenue and same-store operating expense to total revenue, total operating expenses and 
operating income for the years presented. 

Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA Margin 
(dollars in thousands) 

 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
Same-store operating revenue:          

Room  $ 692,016    $ 667,708    $ 632,317   
Food and beverage  151,233    142,962    135,129   
Other operating departments  46,757    48,271    49,550   

Same-store operating revenue(a)  890,006    858,941    816,996   
Same-store operating expense:          

Room  184,840    179,602    172,362   
Food and beverage  120,287    114,815    108,538   
Other operating departments  21,954    21,682    22,748   
Other property related costs  238,115    231,929    224,438   
Management and franchise fees  35,735    39,785    37,719   
Taxes, insurance and lease expense  59,563    58,080    52,455   

Same-store operating expense(a)  660,494    645,893    618,260   
Hotel EBITDA  $ 229,512    $ 213,048    $ 198,736   
Hotel EBITDA Margin  25.8 %   24.8 %   24.3 %  

 
Reconciliation of Same-store Operating Revenue and Same-store Operating Expense to Total Revenue, 

Total Operating Expenses and Operating Income 
(dollars in thousands) 

 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
Same-store operating revenue(a)  $ 890,006    $ 858,941    $ 816,996   
Other revenue  3,430    3,185    2,949   
Revenue from acquired hotels  —    —    (11,455 )  

Total revenue  893,436    862,126    808,490   
Same-store operating expense(a)  660,494    645,893    618,260   
Consolidated hotel lease expense(b)  44,087    41,342    38,759   
Unconsolidated taxes, insurance and lease expense  (7,456 )   (7,256 )   (6,987 )  
Corporate expenses  26,996    26,128    29,080   
Depreciation and amortization  119,624    116,384    110,498   
Impairment loss  24,441    —    4,315   
Expenses from acquired hotels  —    —    (11,290 )  
Conversion expenses  1,134    31,197    —   
Other expenses  8,749    4,626    4,017   

Total operating expenses  878,069    858,314    786,652   
Operating income  $ 15,367    $ 3,812    $ 21,838   

(a) For same-store metrics, we have included the two hotels acquired in May 2011 as if they were 
acquired at the beginning of 2011. 

(b) Consolidated hotel lease expense represents the percentage lease expense of our 51% owned 
operating lessees.  The offsetting percentage lease revenue is included in equity in income from 
unconsolidated entities. 
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Substantially all of our non-current assets consist of real estate. Historical cost accounting for real estate 
assets implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate 
values instead have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, most industry investors consider 
supplemental measures of performance, which are not measures of operating performance under GAAP, to be 
helpful in evaluating a real estate company’s operations. These supplemental measures are not measures of 
operating performance under GAAP.  However, we consider these non-GAAP measures to be supplemental 
measures of a hotel REIT’s performance and should be considered along with, but not as an alternative to, net 
income (loss) attributable to FelCor as a measure of our operating performance. 

FFO and EBITDA 
 
The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) defines FFO as net income or 

loss attributable to parent (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains or losses from sales of 
property, plus depreciation, amortization and impairment losses.  FFO for unconsolidated partnerships and joint 
ventures are calculated on the same basis. We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by 
NAREIT. This may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not define the term in 
accordance with the current NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than 
we do. 
 

EBITDA is a commonly used measure of performance in many industries. We define EBITDA as net 
income or loss attributable to parent (computed in accordance with GAAP) plus interest expenses, income 
taxes, depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. 
Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures are calculated to reflect EBITDA on the same 
basis. 

 
Adjustments to FFO and EBITDA 

We adjust FFO and EBITDA when evaluating our performance because management believes that the 
exclusion of certain additional items provides useful supplemental information to investors regarding our 
ongoing operating performance and that the presentation of Adjusted FFO, and Adjusted EBITDA when 
combined with GAAP net income attributable to FelCor, EBITDA and FFO, is beneficial to an investor’s better 
understanding of our operating performance. 

• Gains and losses related to extinguishment of debt and interest rate swaps - We exclude gains and 
losses related to extinguishment of debt and interest rate swaps from FFO and EBITDA because we 
believe that it is not indicative of ongoing operating performance of our hotel assets.  This also 
represents an acceleration of interest expense or a reduction of interest expense, and interest 
expense is excluded from EBITDA. 

•  Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - Infrequently, the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board promulgates new accounting standards that require the consolidated statements of 
operations to reflect the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.  We exclude these 
one-time adjustments in computing Adjusted FFO and Adjusted EBITDA because they do not 
reflect our actual performance for that period. 

•  Other transaction costs - From time to time, we periodically incur costs that are not indicative of 
ongoing operating performance.  Such costs include, but are not limited to, conversions costs, 
acquisition costs, pre-opening costs and severance costs.  We exclude these costs from the 
calculation of Adjusted FFO and Adjusted EBITDA. 
 

•  Variable stock compensation - We exclude the cost associated with our variable stock 
compensation.  This cost is subject to volatility related to the price and dividends of our common 
stock that does not necessarily correspond to our operating performance. 
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In addition, to derive Adjusted EBITDA, we exclude gains or losses on the sale of depreciable assets 
and impairment losses because including them in EBITDA is inconsistent with reporting the ongoing 
performance of our remaining assets.  Additionally, the gain or loss on sale of depreciable assets and 
impairment losses represents either accelerated depreciation or excess depreciation in previous periods, and 
depreciation is excluded from EBITDA.  We also exclude the amortization of our fixed stock compensation.  
While this amortization is included in corporate expenses and is not separately stated on our statements of 
operations, excluding this amortization is consistent with the EBITDA definition. 

Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA Margin 

Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin are commonly used measures of performance in the hotel 
industry and give investors a more complete understanding of the operating results over which our individual 
hotels and brand/managers have direct control.  We believe that Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin are 
useful to investors by providing greater transparency with respect to two significant measures that we use in our 
financial and operational decision-making.  Additionally, using these measures facilitates comparisons with 
other hotel REITs and hotel owners.  We present Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin in a manner 
consistent with Adjusted EBITDA, however, we also eliminate all revenues and expenses from continuing 
operations not directly associated with hotel operations, including other income and corporate-level and other 
expenses.  We eliminate these additional items because we believe property-level results provide investors with 
supplemental information into the ongoing operational performance of our hotels and the effectiveness of 
management on a property-level basis.  We also eliminate consolidated percentage rent paid to unconsolidated 
entities, which is effectively eliminated by noncontrolling interests and equity in income from unconsolidated 
subsidiaries, and include the cost of unconsolidated taxes, insurance and lease expense, to reflect the entire 
operating costs applicable to our Consolidated Hotels.  Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margins are 
presented on a same-store basis. 

Use and Limitations of Non-GAAP Measures 

Our management and Board of Directors use FFO, Adjusted FFO, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Hotel 
EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin to evaluate the performance of our hotels and to facilitate comparisons 
between us and other lodging REITs, hotel owners who are not REITs and other capital intensive companies.  
We use Hotel EBITDA and Hotel EBITDA margin in evaluating hotel-level performance and the operating 
efficiency of our hotel managers. 

The use of these non-GAAP financial measures has certain limitations.  These non-GAAP financial 
measures as presented by us, may not be comparable to non-GAAP financial measures as calculated by other 
real estate companies.  These measures do not reflect certain expenses or expenditures that we incurred and will 
incur, such as depreciation, interest and capital expenditures.  Management compensates for these limitations by 
separately considering the impact of these excluded items to the extent they are material to operating decisions 
or assessments of our operating performance.  Our reconciliations to the most comparable GAAP financial 
measures, and our consolidated statements of operations and cash flows, include interest expense, capital 
expenditures, and other excluded items, all of which should be considered when evaluating our performance, as 
well as the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures. 

These non-GAAP financial measures are used in addition to and in conjunction with results presented 
in accordance with GAAP.  They should not be considered as alternatives to operating profit, cash flow from 
operations, or any other operating performance measure prescribed by GAAP.  These non-GAAP financial 
measures reflect additional ways of viewing our operations that we believe, when viewed with our GAAP 
results and the reconciliations to the corresponding GAAP financial measures, provide a more complete 
understanding of factors and trends affecting our business than could be obtained absent this disclosure.  
Management strongly encourages investors to review our financial information in its entirety and not to rely on 
a single financial measure. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Operating Activities 
 

During 2013, our operations generated $68.5 million of cash, a $21.2 million increase compared 
to 2012.  This primarily reflects $32 million less in interest payments, due to a lower average borrowing 
rate, partially offset by a receivable for Wyndham’s $8 million guaranty, which was not paid until January 
2014.  Our consolidated statements of cash flows combine cash flow from continuing and discontinued 
operations.  We had $7.8 million, $20.6 million and $23.6 million of operating cash flow from 
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  The 
absence of these cash flows should not have a material impact on our business, as these hotels would not 
provide an acceptable return on future capital expenditure required for these hotels. 

 
At December 31, 2013, we had $45.6 million of cash, including approximately $33.1 million held 

by our third-party management companies. 
 

RevPAR for the lodging industry continues to be strong.  RevPAR at our 51 comparable hotels for 
2013 grew 7.1%, driven by a 4.1% increase in ADR and 2.9% higher occupancy.  The industry is 
enjoying a favorable supply/demand imbalance, as supply growth remains well below the long-term 
average.  Occupancy continues to grow and is approaching prior-peak levels, allowing hotels to raise 
rates.  We expect our RevPAR for our comparable hotels to increase 6.25% to 7.25% during 2014, 
primarily from higher ADR.  We expect our operations will generate $97.8 million to $106.8 million of 
cash flow in 2014. 
 

We are subject to increases in hotel operating expenses, including wage and benefit costs, repair 
and maintenance expenses, utilities and insurance expenses that can fluctuate disproportionately to 
revenues.  Some operating expenses are difficult to predict and control, which lends volatility to our 
operating results.  Our hotels have extensive cost containment initiatives, including reducing headcount 
and improving productivity and energy efficiency.  If RevPAR decreases, or fails to grow in line with or 
better than occupancy, and/or Hotel EBITDA margins shrink, our operations, earnings and/or cash flow 
could be materially adversely affected. 
 
Investing Activities 

During 2013, we used $53.9 million of cash in investing activities compared to $71.1 million of 
cash provided by investing activities during the same period in 2012.  In 2013, we sold hotels for 
$98.8 million in net proceeds, which was more than offset by $101.4 million of capital expenditures 
(primarily for renovations and redevelopment at 12 hotels) and $60.6 million invested in redeveloping the 
Knickerbocker Hotel.  In 2012, we spent $121.5 million in capital expenditures and invested 
$24.8 million on the Knickerbocker Hotel, all of which was more than offset by $197.6 million of net 
proceeds from hotel sales.  For renovations and redevelopment in 2014, we expect to spend 
approximately $85 million which will be funded from operating cash flow, cash on hand and borrowings 
under our line of credit.  In addition, for the Knickerbocker Hotel we expect to invest approximately 
$81 million in 2014, which will be funded primarily by draws on the Knickerbocker construction loan and 
additional capital that is currently being raised through the EB-5 immigrant investment program. 

Our strategic plan contemplates that we will sell 45 non-strategic hotels that do not meet our 
investment criteria, thereby freeing our capital for redeployment (e.g., repay debt and invest in our core 
properties that generate a higher return on invested capital).  We have sold 25 of these 45 hotels to date, 
including five in 2013 and one in January 2014.  We have 20 remaining non-strategic hotels, including the 
one hotel that is under contract.  Of the remaining hotels, we are currently marketing six and expect to 
begin marketing three more later this year.  We indirectly own 50% interests in the other 10 non-strategic 
hotels, which are owned by a joint venture with one of our brand-managers.  We are working diligently to 



 
 

17 

unwind that joint venture, as a consequence of which we would own five of those hotels outright (our 
joint venture partner would own the other five).  When the joint venture is unwound (which we are 
targeting to occur in the second quarter), we intend to begin marketing those hotels immediately.   

 
Financing Activities 

During 2013, cash used in financing activities decreased by $151.9 million compared to 2012.  In 
2013, we had $27.1 million of proceeds from net borrowings which was more than offset by $38.7 million 
in preferred dividend payments.  In 2012, we had $625.8 million of net borrowings (including repaying 
$258 million in face amount of our senior notes), and paid $106.5 million in preferred dividends, partially 
offset by $56 million of net borrowings under our line of credit and $525 million in proceeds from our 
5.625% senior secured notes due 2023.  In 2014, we expect to make approximately $4 million of 
normally-occurring principal payments, $39 million of preferred dividends and $10 million in common 
dividends, all of which will be funded from operating cash flow and cash on hand.  During 2014, we 
intend to sell most of our 20 remaining non-strategic hotels and repay our 2014 maturities. 

FelCor’s Board of Directors reinstated a quarterly common dividend in October 2013, in 
recognition of our ongoing and successful portfolio repositioning and balance sheet restructuring.  At that 
time, FelCor’s Board of Directors declared a $0.02 per share fourth quarter common stock dividend, 
which was paid in January.  FelCor's Board of Directors will determine the amount of future common and 
preferred dividends for each quarter, if any, based upon various factors including operating results, 
economic conditions, other operating trends, our financial condition and capital requirements, as well as 
the minimum REIT distribution requirements. 

Except in the case of our senior notes and line of credit, our mortgage debt is generally recourse 
solely to the specific hotels securing the debt, other than in the case of fraud, misapplication of funds and 
certain other customary limited recourse carve-out provisions, which could extend recourse to us.  Much 
of our secured debt allows us to substitute collateral under certain conditions and is prepayable, subject 
(in some instances) to various prepayment, yield maintenance or defeasance obligations. 

Most of our secured debt (other than our senior notes and line of credit) includes “lock-box” 
arrangements under certain circumstances.  Under these arrangements, the borrower is permitted to incur 
and pay budgeted hotel operating expenses, taxes, debt service, insurance and capital expenditure 
reserves, even if revenues are flowing through a lock-box in cases where a specified debt service 
coverage ratio is not met.  Except for loans secured by two properties, all of our consolidated loans 
subject to lock-box provisions currently exceed the applicable minimum debt service coverage ratios. 

Senior Notes.  Our senior notes require that we satisfy total leverage, secured leverage and 
interest coverage tests in order to: (i) incur additional indebtedness, except to refinance maturing debt 
with replacement debt, as defined under our indentures; (ii) pay dividends in excess of the minimum 
distributions required to qualify as a REIT; (iii) repurchase capital stock; or (iv) merge.  We currently 
exceed all minimum thresholds.  These notes are guaranteed by us, and payment of our 10% notes is 
secured by a pledge of the limited partner interests in FelCor LP owned by FelCor.  In addition, our senior 
notes are secured by a combination of first lien mortgages and related security interests and/or negative 
pledges on 26 hotels (11 hotels for our 10% senior notes, six hotels for our 6.75% senior notes and nine 
hotels for our 5.625% senior notes), and pledges of equity interests in certain subsidiaries of FelCor LP. 

Interest Rate Caps.  To fulfill requirements under certain loans, we owned interest rate caps with 
aggregate notional amounts of $202.4 million as of December 31, 2012.  These interest rate caps were not 
designated as hedges and had insignificant fair values at December 31, 2012, resulting in no significant 
net earnings impact.  We did not have any interest rate caps outstanding as of December 31, 2013.   
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Consolidated debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 
  

Encumbered 
Hotels 

  
Interest Rate 

(%) 
   December 31, 

   Maturity Date  2013  2012 
Line of credit  9    LIBOR + 3.375  June 2016(a)  $ 88,000   $ 56,000  
Hotel mortgage debt             

Mortgage debt(b)  5    6.66     June - August 2014  63,337   65,431  
Mortgage debt  1    5.81    July 2016  9,904   10,405  
Mortgage debt(b)  4    4.95    October 2022  126,220   128,066  
Mortgage debt  1    4.94    October 2022  31,714   32,176  

Senior notes             
Senior secured notes(c)  11    10.00    October 2014  229,190   223,586  
Senior secured notes  6    6.75    June 2019  525,000   525,000  
Senior secured notes  9    5.625    March 2023  525,000   525,000  

Other(d)  —    LIBOR + 1.25  May 2016  64,861   64,861  
Total  46         $ 1,663,226   $ 1,630,525  

(a) Our $225 million line of credit can be extended for one year (to 2017), subject to satisfying 
certain conditions. 

(b) This debt is comprised of separate non-cross-collateralized loans each secured by a mortgage of a 
different hotel. 

(c) We originally issued $636 million (face amount) of these notes.  After redemptions in 2011 and 
2012,  $234 million (face amount) of these notes were outstanding at December 31, 2013.  These 
notes were initially sold at a discount that provided an effective yield of 12.875% before 
transaction costs. 

(d) This loan is related to our Knickerbocker development project and is fully secured by restricted 
cash and a mortgage.  Because we were able to assume an existing loan when we purchased this 
hotel, we were not required to pay any local mortgage recording tax.  This loan, which allows us 
to borrow up to $85 million, can be extended for one year subject to satisfying certain conditions. 
 

Contractual Obligations 
 

We have obligations and commitments to make certain future payments under debt agreements and 
various contracts.  The following schedule details these obligations at December 31, 2013 (in thousands): 
 

  
 

Total  
Less Than 

1 Year  
1 – 3 
Years  

4 – 5 
Years  

After 
5 Years 

Debt(a)  $ 2,231,822   $ 398,597   $ 322,977   $ 150,854   $ 1,359,394  
Operating leases  340,937   23,001   38,799   13,505   265,632  
Purchase obligations  52,563   52,563   —   —   —  

Total contractual obligations  $ 2,625,322   $ 474,161   $ 361,776   $ 164,359   $ 1,625,026  
 

(a) This includes both principal and interest.  Interest expense for variable rate debt was calculated 
using interest rates at December 31, 2013. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
At December 31, 2013, we had unconsolidated 50% interests in entities that owned 13 hotels 

(which we refer to as hotel joint ventures).  We own more than 50% of the operating lessees operating 12 
of these hotels and one hotel is operated without a lease.  We also owned 50% interests in entities that 
provide condominium management services and own real estate in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.  None 
of our directors, officers or employees owns any interest in any of these joint ventures or entities.  The 
hotel joint ventures had $146.4 million of non-recourse mortgage debt relating to these 10 hotels, of 
which our pro rata portion was $73.2 million, none of which is reflected as a liability on our consolidated 
balance sheet.  Our liabilities with regard to non-recourse debt and the liabilities of our subsidiaries that 
are members or partners in joint ventures are generally limited to guarantees of the borrowing entity’s 
obligations to pay for the lender’s losses caused by misconduct, fraud or misappropriation of funds by the 
venture and other typical exceptions from the non-recourse provisions in the mortgages, such as for 
environmental liabilities. 
 

We have recorded equity in income from unconsolidated entities of $4.6 million, $2.8 million, 
and a loss of $2.1 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  We received $14.2 million of 
distributions (of which $4.4 million came from operations), $17.7 million (of which $4.2 million came 
from operations), and $3.8 million (of which $2.3 million came from operations) in 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively.  The principal source of income for our hotel joint ventures is percentage lease revenue from 
the operating lessees. 
 

Capital expenditures at the hotels owned by hotel joint ventures are generally funded from 
operating income at its hotels.  However, if a joint venture has insufficient cash flow to meet operating 
expenses or make necessary capital improvements, it may call capital from the investors.  In the event of a 
capital call, the other joint investors may be unwilling or unable to make the necessary capital 
contributions.  Under such circumstances, we may elect to make up the difference as a loan to the joint 
venture or as an additional capital contribution by us.  Under certain circumstances, a capital contribution 
by us may increase our equity investment to greater than 50% and may require that we consolidate the 
joint venture, including all of its assets and liabilities, into our consolidated financial statements.  We may 
be confronted with the choice of losing our investment in a venture or investing additional capital with no 
guaranty of any return on that investment. 
 
Inflation 
 

Operators of hotels, in general, possess the ability to adjust room rates daily to reflect the effects 
of inflation.  Competitive pressures may, however, require us to reduce room rates in the near term and 
may limit our ability to raise room rates in the future.  We are also subject to the risk that inflation will 
cause increases in hotel operating expenses disproportionately to revenues. 
 
Seasonality 
 

The lodging business is seasonal in nature.  Generally, hotel revenues are greater in the second 
and third calendar quarters than in the first and fourth calendar quarters, although this may not always 
apply for hotels in major tourist destinations. Revenues for hotels in tourist areas generally are 
substantially greater during tourist season than other times of the year.  Seasonal variations in revenue at 
our hotels can be expected to cause quarterly fluctuations in our revenues.  Quarterly earnings also may 
be adversely affected by events beyond our control, such as extreme weather conditions, economic factors 
and other considerations affecting travel.  To the extent that cash flow from operations is insufficient 
during any quarter, due to temporary or seasonal fluctuations in revenues, we may utilize cash on hand or 
borrowings to satisfy our obligations. 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.  The preparation 
of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 

On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to bad debts, the 
carrying value of investments in hotels, litigation, and other contingencies.  We base our estimates on 
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ from these 
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the most significant judgments and 
estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. 

•We record an impairment charge when we believe that an investment in one or more of our hotels 
held for investment has been impaired, such that future undiscounted cash flows would not 
recover the book basis, or net book value, of the investment.  We test for impairment charge when 
certain events occur, including one or more of the following: projected cash flows are 
significantly less than recent historical cash flows; significant changes in legal factors or actions 
by a regulator that could affect the value of our hotels; events that could cause changes or 
uncertainty in travel patterns; and a current expectation that, more likely than not, a hotel will be 
sold or otherwise disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life.  
In the evaluation of impairment of our hotels, and in establishing impairment charges, we make 
many assumptions and estimates on a hotel by hotel basis, which include the following: 

◦  Annual cash flow growth rates for revenues and expenses; 
◦  Holding periods; 
◦  Expected remaining useful lives of assets; 
◦  Estimates in fair values taking into consideration future cash flows, capitalization rates, 

discount rates and comparable selling prices; and 
◦  Future capital expenditures. 

•  We record an impairment charge when one or more of our investments in unconsolidated 
subsidiaries experiences an other-than-temporary decline in fair value.  Any decline in fair value 
that is not expected to be recovered in the next 12 months is considered other-than-temporary.  
We record an impairment in our equity-based investments as a reduction in the carrying value of 
the investment.  Our estimates of fair values are based on future cash flow estimates, 
capitalization rates, discount rates and comparable selling prices. 

Changes in these estimates, future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results 
of underlying hotels could result in an inability to recover the carrying value of our hotels or 
investments in unconsolidated entities, thereby requiring future impairment charges. 

•  We capitalize interest and certain other costs, such as property taxes, land leases, property 
insurance and employee costs related to hotels undergoing major renovations and 
redevelopments.  In 2013, 2012 and 2011, we capitalized $23.6 million, $22.2 million and 
$8.5 million, respectively, of such costs.  We make estimates with regard to when components of 
the renovated asset or redevelopment project are taken out of service or placed in service when 
determining the appropriate amount and time to capitalize these costs.  If these estimates are 
inaccurate, we could capitalize too much or too little with regard to a particular project. 

•  Depreciation expense is based on the estimated useful life of our assets, and amortization expense 
for leasehold improvements is the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the 
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related assets.  The lives of the assets are based on a number of assumptions including cost and 
timing of capital expenditures to maintain and refurbish the assets, as well as specific market and 
economic conditions.  While we believe our estimates are reasonable, a change in the estimated 
lives could affect depreciation and amortization expense and net income (loss) or the gain or loss 
on the sale of any of our hotels. 

•  Investments in hotel properties are based on purchase price and allocated to land, property and 
equipment, identifiable intangible assets and assumed debt and other liabilities at fair value.  Any 
remaining unallocated purchase price, if any, is treated as goodwill.  Property and equipment are 
recorded at fair value, based on current replacement cost for similar capacity, and allocated to 
buildings, improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment using appraisals and valuations 
prepared by management and/or independent third parties.  Identifiable intangible assets 
(typically contracts including ground and retail leases and management and franchise agreements) 
are recorded at fair value, although no value is generally allocated to contracts which are at 
market terms.  Above-market and below-market contract values are based on the present value of 
the difference between contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the contracts acquired and our 
estimate of the fair value of contract rates for corresponding contracts measured over the period 
equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the contract.  Intangible assets are amortized using 
the straight-line method over the remaining non-cancelable term of the related agreements.  In 
making estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price, we may utilize a 
number of sources such as those obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of a 
property and other market data, including third-party appraisals and valuations. 

•  We make estimates with respect to contingent liabilities for losses covered by insurance.  We 
record liabilities for self-insured losses under our insurance programs when it becomes probable 
that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the date of our financial 
statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  We are self-insured for the 
first $250,000, per occurrence, of our general liability claims with regard to 47 of our hotels.  We 
review the adequacy of our reserves for our self-insured claims on a regular basis.  Our reserves 
are intended to cover the estimated ultimate uninsured liability for losses with respect to reported 
and unreported claims incurred at the end of each accounting period.  These reserves represent 
estimates at a given date, generally utilizing projections based on claims, historical settlement of 
claims and estimates of future costs to settle claims.  Estimates are also required since there may 
be delays in reporting.  Because establishment of insurance reserves is an inherently uncertain 
process involving estimates, currently established reserves may not be sufficient.  If our insurance 
reserves of $3.7 million, at December 31, 2013, for general liability losses are insufficient, we 
will record an additional expense in future periods.  Property and catastrophic losses are event-
driven losses and, as such, until a loss occurs and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated, 
no liability is recorded.  We recorded no contingent liabilities with regard to property or 
catastrophic losses at December 31, 2013. 

•  Our taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs, have cumulative potential future tax deductions totaling 
$346.9 million.  The deferred income tax asset associated with these potential future tax 
deductions was $131.8 million at December 31, 2013.  We recorded a 100% valuation allowance 
related to our TRSs net deferred tax asset, because of the uncertainty of realizing the asset’s 
benefit.  The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes 
payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax 
consequences of events that have been recognized in an entity’s financial statements or tax 
returns.  We have considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax 
planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance.  In the event we were to 
determine that we would be able to realize all or a portion of our deferred tax assets in the future, 
an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase operating income in the period such 
determination was made. 
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

At December 31, 2013, approximately 91% of our consolidated debt had fixed interest rates.  In some 
cases, market rates of interest are below the rates we are obligated to pay on our fixed-rate debt. 

The following tables provide information about our financial instruments that are sensitive to changes 
in interest rates.  For debt obligations, the tables present scheduled maturities (before extension options) and 
weighted average interest rates, by maturity dates.  The fair value of our fixed rate debt indicates the 
estimated principal amount of debt having the same debt service requirements that could have been borrowed 
at the date presented, at then current market interest rates. 
 

December 31, 2013 
 Expected Maturity Date  
 2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  Thereafter  Total  Fair Value 
Liabilities (dollars in thousands) 

Fixed rate:                
Debt $ 300,045   $ 3,107   $ 11,461   $ 2,810   $ 2,954   $ 1,194,702   $ 1,515,079   $ 1,565,211  
Average interest 
rate 9.25 %  5.11 %  5.61 %  4.95 %  4.95 %  6.04 %  6.66 %   

Floating rate:                
Debt —   —   152,861   —   —   —   152,861   153,032  
Average interest 

rate(a) —   —   5.28 %  —   —   —   5.28 %   
Total debt $ 300,045   $ 3,107   $ 164,322   $ 2,810   $ 2,954   $ 1,194,702   $ 1,667,940    

Average interest 
rate 9.25 %  5.11 %  5.31 %  4.95 %  4.95 %  6.04 %  6.54 %   

Net discount             (4,714 )   
             $ 1,663,226    

(a) The average floating rate represents the implied forward rates in the yield curve at December 31, 
2013. 

 
December 31, 2012 

 Expected Maturity Date 

 2013  2014  2015  2016  2017  Thereafter  Total  Fair Value 
Liabilities (dollars in thousands) 
Fixed rate:                

Debt $ 4,752   $ 300,192   $ 3,107   $ 11,465   $ 2,810   $ 1,197,656   $ 1,519,982   $ 1,596,596  
Average interest 

rate 5.79 %  9.25 %  5.11 %  5.61 %  4.95 %  6.03 %  6.66 %   
Floating rate:                

Debt —   —   —   120,861   —   —   120,861   120,969  
Average interest 

rate(a) —   —   —   3.37 %  —   —   3.37 %   
Total debt $ 4,752   $ 300,192   $ 3,107   $ 132,326   $ 2,810   $ 1,197,656   $ 1,640,843    

Average interest 
rate 5.79 %  9.25 %  5.11 %  3.57 %  4.95 %  6.03 %  6.42 %   

Net discount             (10,318 )   
Total debt             $ 1,630,525    

(a) The average floating rate represents the implied forward rates in the yield curve at December 31, 
2012. 

We had no interest rate swap agreements at December 31, 2013 or 2012. 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 

FelCor’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

FelCor’s management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as 
of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in its Internal Control-
Integrated Framework (1992).  Based on our assessment, FelCor has concluded that, as of December 31, 
2013, its internal control over financial reporting is effective, based on those criteria. 

The effectiveness of FelCor’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, 
has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm as 
stated in their report, which appears elsewhere in this report. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated 
 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, of comprehensive loss, of equity, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company’s management is responsible for these financial 
statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting appearing elsewhere in this annual report to stockholders.  Our 
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our integrated audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects.  Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation.  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in 
the circumstances.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance 
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the 
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 

 
 

 
Dallas, Texas 
February 28, 2014 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
December 31, 2013 and 2012  

(in thousands) 
 

 2013  2012 
Assets    

Investment in hotels, net of accumulated depreciation of $929,801 and 
$929,298 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively $ 1,653,267   $ 1,794,564  

Hotel development 216,747   146,079  
Investment in unconsolidated entities 46,943   55,082  
Hotel held for sale 16,319   —  
Cash and cash equivalents 45,645   45,745  
Restricted cash 77,227   77,927  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $262 and 

$469 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 35,747   25,383  
Deferred expenses, net of accumulated amortization of $20,362 and $13,820 

at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 29,325   34,262  
Other assets 23,060   23,391  

Total assets $ 2,144,280   $ 2,202,433  
Liabilities and Equity    

Debt, net of discount of $4,714 and $10,318 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively $ 1,663,226   $ 1,630,525  

Distributions payable 11,047   8,545  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 150,738   138,442  

Total liabilities 1,825,011   1,777,512  
Commitments and contingencies    
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP, 618 and 621 units issued 

and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 5,039   2,902  
Equity:    
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 20,000 shares authorized:    

Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, 12,880 shares, 
liquidation value of $322,011, issued and outstanding at December 31, 
2013 and 2012 309,362   309,362  

Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, 68 shares, liquidation 
value of $169,950, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 169,412   169,412  

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 200,000 shares authorized and 124,051 
and 124,117 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 1,240   1,241  

Additional paid-in capital 2,354,328   2,353,581  
Accumulated other comprehensive income 24,937   26,039  
Accumulated deficit (2,568,350 )  (2,464,968 ) 

Total FelCor stockholders’ equity 290,929   394,667  
Noncontrolling interests in other partnerships 23,301   27,352  

Total equity 314,230   422,019  
Total liabilities and equity $ 2,144,280   $ 2,202,433  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 
(in thousands, except per share data) 

 
 
 2013  2012  2011 
Revenues:      

Hotel operating revenue $ 890,006   $ 858,941   $ 805,541  

Other revenue 3,430   3,185   2,949  

Total revenues 893,436   862,126   808,490  
Expenses:      

Hotel departmental expenses 327,081   316,099   297,260  
Other property-related costs 238,115   231,929   220,979  
Management and franchise fees 35,735   39,785   37,376  
Taxes, insurance and lease expense 96,194   92,166   83,127  
Corporate expenses 26,996   26,128   29,080  
Depreciation and amortization 119,624   116,384   110,498  
Impairment loss 24,441   —   4,315  
Conversion expenses 1,134   31,197   —  

Other expenses 8,749   4,626   4,017  

Total operating expenses 878,069   858,314   786,652  
Operating income 15,367   3,812   21,838  
Interest expense, net (103,787 )  (121,552 )  (126,044 ) 
Debt extinguishment —   (72,350 )  (27,640 ) 
Gain on involuntary conversion, net 41   —   295  
Loss before equity in income (loss) from unconsolidated entities (88,379 )  (190,090 )  (131,551 ) 

Equity in income (loss) from unconsolidated entities 4,586   2,779   (2,068 ) 
Loss from continuing operations (83,793 )  (187,311 )  (133,619 ) 

Income from discontinued operations 18,010   57,897   2,724  
Net loss (65,783 )  (129,414 )  (130,895 ) 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in other 

partnerships 3,782 
 

 565 
 

 352 
 

Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in 
FelCor LP 497 

 

 842 
 

 689 
 

Net loss attributable to FelCor (61,504 )  (128,007 )  (129,854 ) 
Preferred dividends (38,713 )  (38,713 )  (38,713 ) 

Net loss attributable to FelCor common stockholders $ (100,217 )  $ (166,720 )  $ (168,567 ) 
Basic and diluted per common share data:      

Loss from continuing operations $ (0.95 )  $ (1.81 )  $ (1.46 ) 
Net loss $ (0.81 )  $ (1.35 )  $ (1.44 ) 
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares 

outstanding 123,818 
 

 123,634 
 

 117,068 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  
(in thousands) 

 
 
 
 
  2013  2012  2011 
Net loss  $ (65,783 )  $ (129,414 )  $ (130,895 ) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (1,108 )  303   (726 ) 

Comprehensive loss  (66,891 )  (129,111 )  (131,621 ) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling 

interests in other partnerships  3,782 
 

 565 
 

 352 
 

Comprehensive loss attributable to redeemable 
noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP  503 

 

 840 
 

 696 
 

Comprehensive loss attributable to FelCor  $ (62,606 )  $ (127,706 )  $ (130,573 ) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

(in thousands) 
 

 

 
 

Preferred Stock  
 

Common Stock   
Additional 

Paid-in 
Capital 

 Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

     Noncontrolling 
Interests in 

Other 
Partnerships 

  
 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

  

 

Number 
of 

 Shares  
 

Amount  

Number 
of 

 Shares  
 

Amount    
Accumulated 

Deficit  
Treasury 

Stock    
 

Total Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2010 12,948   $ 478,774   101,038   $ 1,010   $ 2,190,308   $ 26,457   $ (2,054,625 )  $ (73,341 )  $ 19,795     $ 588,378  
Issuance of common stock —   —   27,600   276   158,200   —   —   —   —     158,476  
Retirement of treasury stock —   —   (4,156 )  (41 )  —   —   (73,300 )  73,341   —     —  
Issuance of stock awards —   —   95   1   554   —   —   —   —     555  
Stock awards - amortization —   —   —   —   3,475   —   —   —   —     3,475  
Forfeiture of stock awards —   —   (312 )  (3 )  —   —   (958 )  —   —     (961 ) 
Conversion of operating 
partnership units into common 
shares —   —   16   —   97   —   —   —   —     97  
Allocation to redeemable 
noncontrolling interests —   —   —   —   685   —   —   —   —     685  
Contribution from noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   6,967     6,967  
Distribution to noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,053 )    (1,053 ) 
Other —   —   —   —   (68 )  —   (18 )  —   —     (86 ) 
Preferred dividends:                      

$1.95 per Series A preferred 
share —   —   —   —   —   —   (25,117 )  —   —     (25,117 ) 
$2.00 per Series C depositary 
preferred share —   —   —   —   —   —   (13,596 )  —   —     (13,596 ) 

Comprehensive loss (attributable to 
FelCor and noncontrolling interests 
in other partnerships):                      

Foreign exchange translation —   —   —   —   —   (719 )  —   —   —   $ (719 )   
Net loss —   —   —   —   —   —   (129,854 )  —   (352 )  (130,206 )   

Comprehensive loss                   $ (130,925 )  (130,925 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2011 12,948   $ 478,774   124,281   $ 1,243   $ 2,353,251   $ 25,738   $ (2,297,468 )  $ —   $ 25,357     $ 586,895  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY – (continued) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

(in thousands) 
 

 
 Preferred Stock  Common Stock     

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

   Noncontrolling 
Interests in 

Other 
Partnerships 

    

 

Number 
of 

Shares  
 
 

Amount  
Number 

 of 
Shares  

 
 

Amount  
Additional 

Paid-in 
Capital   

 
Accumulated 

Deficit   
 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

 
 

Total Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2011 12,948   $ 478,774   124,281   $ 1,243   $ 2,353,251   $ 25,738   $ (2,297,468 )  $ 25,357     $ 586,895  
Issuance of stock awards —   —   10   —   —   —   —   —     —  
Stock awards - amortization —   —   —   —   827   —   —   —     827  
Forfeiture of stock awards —   —   (185 )  (2 )  234   —   (776 )  —     (544 ) 
Conversion of operating 
partnership units into common 
shares —   —   11   —   45   —   —   —     45  
Allocation to redeemable 
noncontrolling interests —   —   —   —   (776 )  —   —   —     (776 ) 
Contribution from noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   3,616     3,616  
Distribution to noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,056 )    (1,056 ) 

Other —   —   —   —   —   —   (4 )  —     (4 ) 
Preferred dividends:                    

$1.95 per Series A preferred 
share —   —   —   —   —   —   (25,117 )  —     (25,117 ) 
$2.00 per Series C depositary 
preferred share —   —   —   —   —   —   (13,596 )  —     (13,596 ) 

Comprehensive loss (attributable to 
FelCor and noncontrolling interests 
in other partnerships):                    

Foreign exchange translation —   —   —   —   —   301   —   —   $ 301    
Net loss —   —   —   —   —   —   (128,007 )  (565 )  (128,572 )   

Comprehensive loss                 $ (128,271 )  (128,271 ) 
Balance at December 31, 2012 12,948   $ 478,774  —  124,117   $ 1,241   $ 2,353,581   $ 26,039   $ (2,464,968 )  $ 27,352     $ 422,019  

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY – (continued) 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

(in thousands) 
 

 
 Preferred Stock  Common Stock   

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital 

 Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

   Noncontrolling 
Interests in 

Other 
Partnerships 

  
 

 Comprehensive 
Income (Loss) 

  

 

Number 
of 

 Shares  
 

Amount  
Number of 

 Shares  
 

Amount    
Accumulated 

Deficit    
 

Total Equity 

Balance at December 31, 2012 12,948   $ 478,774   124,117   $ 1,241   $ 2,353,581   $ 26,039   $ (2,464,968 )  $ 27,352     $ 422,019  
Issuance of stock awards —   —   15   —   —   —   —   —     —  
Stock awards - amortization and 
severance —   —   —   —   3,387   —   —   —     3,387  
Forfeiture of stock awards —   —   (85 )  (1 )  —   —   (663 )  —     (664 ) 
Conversion of operating partnership 
units into common shares —   —   4   —   23   —   —   —     23  
Allocation to redeemable 
noncontrolling interests —   —   —   —   (2,663 )  —   —   —     (2,663 ) 
Contribution from noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   3,990     3,990  
Distribution to noncontrolling 
interests —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (4,259 )    (4,259 ) 
Dividends declared:                    

$0.02 per common share —   —   —   —   —   —   (2,502 )  —     (2,502 ) 
$1.95 per Series A preferred 
share —   —   —   —   —   —   (25,117 )  —     (25,117 ) 
$2.00 per Series C depositary 
preferred share —   —   —   —   —   —   (13,596 )  —     (13,596 ) 

Comprehensive loss (attributable to 
FelCor and noncontrolling interests 
in other partnerships):                    

Foreign exchange translation —   —   —   —   —   (1,102 )  —   —   $ (1,102 )   
Net loss —   —   —   —   —   —   (61,504 )  (3,782 )  (65,286 )   

Comprehensive loss                 $ (66,388 )  (66,388 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2013 12,948   $ 478,774   124,051   $ 1,240   $ 2,354,328   $ 24,937   $ (2,568,350 )  $ 23,301     $ 314,230  
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

(in thousands) 
 
 2013  2012  2011 
Cash flows from operating activities:      

Net loss $ (65,783 )  $ (129,414 )  $ (130,895 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 124,547   129,486   138,892  
Gain on sale of hotels, net (19,441 )  (54,459 )  (4,714 ) 
Gain on involuntary conversion, net (107 )  —   (280 ) 
Amortization of deferred financing fees and debt discount 11,082   18,053   17,496  
Amortization of fixed stock and directors’ compensation 5,869   5,002   7,170  
Equity based severance 1,051   —   —  
Equity in (income) loss from unconsolidated entities (4,586 )  (2,779 )  2,068  
Distributions of income from unconsolidated entities 4,440   4,160   2,261  
Debt extinguishment —   75,117   24,380  
Impairment loss 28,795   1,335   13,250  

Changes in assets and liabilities:      
Accounts receivable (10,858 )  1,253   (344 ) 
Other assets (6,061 )  (5,029 )  (6,101 ) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (487 )  4,584   (17,318 ) 

Net cash flow provided by operating activities 68,461   47,309  —  45,865  
Cash flows from investing activities:      

Acquisition of hotels —   —   (137,985 ) 
Improvements and additions to hotels (101,357 )  (121,475 )  (89,042 ) 
Hotel development (60,553 )  (24,849 )  (119,611 ) 
Additions to condominium project —   —   (359 ) 
Net proceeds from asset dispositions 98,820   197,613   132,774  
Change in restricted cash 700   6,313   (176 ) 
Insurance proceeds 238   —   391  
Distributions from unconsolidated entities 9,784   13,539   1,588  
Contributions to unconsolidated entities (1,500 )  —   —  

Net cash flow provided by (used in) investing activities (53,868 )  71,141   (212,420 ) 
Cash flows from financing activities:      

Proceeds from borrowings 164,000   998,611   1,087,285  
Repayment of borrowings (136,902 )  (1,043,365 )  (1,135,822 ) 
Payment of deferred financing costs (2,744 )  (17,870 )  (20,233 ) 
Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests (4,259 )  (1,056 )  (1,053 ) 
Contribution from noncontrolling interests 3,990   3,616   6,967  
Distributions paid to preferred stockholders (38,713 )  (106,461 )  (38,713 ) 
Net proceeds from common stock issuance —   —   158,476  
Proceeds from FelCor LP unit issuance —   —   2,500  

Net cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities (14,628 )  (166,525 )  59,407  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (65 )  62   (66 ) 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (100 )  (48,013 )  (107,214 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of periods 45,745   93,758   200,972  
Cash and cash equivalents at end of periods $ 45,645   $ 45,745   $ 93,758  
      Supplemental cash flow information — interest paid, net of capitalized interest $ 84,839   $ 116,789   $ 119,732  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Organization 

FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated (NYSE:FCH), or FelCor, is a Maryland corporation operating 
as a real estate investment trust, or REIT.  We are the sole general partner of, and the owner of a greater 
than 99.5% partnership interest in, FelCor Lodging Limited Partnership, or FelCor LP, through which we 
held ownership interests in 60 hotels in continuing operations with approximately 17,583 rooms at 
December 31, 2013.  At December 31, 2013, we had an aggregate of 124,668,210 shares and units 
outstanding, consisting of 124,050,668 shares of FelCor common stock and 617,542 units of FelCor LP 
units not owned by FelCor. 

Of the 60 hotels in which we had an ownership interest at December 31, 2013, we owned a 100% 
interest in 43 hotels, a 90% interest in entities owning two hotels, an 82% interest in an entity owning one 
hotel, a 60% interest in an entity owning one hotel and 50% interests in entities owning 13 hotels.  We 
consolidate our real estate interests in the 47 hotels in which we held majority interests, and we record the 
real estate interests of the 13 hotels in which we held 50% interests using the equity method.  We leased 
59 of our 60 hotels to our taxable REIT subsidiaries, of which we own a controlling interest.  One 50%-
owned hotel was operated without an operating lease.  Because we own controlling interests in these 
lessees, we consolidate our interests in these 59 hotels (which we refer to as our Consolidated Hotels) and 
reflect those hotels’ operating revenues and expenses in our statements of operations.  Of our 
Consolidated Hotels, we owned 50% of the real estate interests in 12 hotels (we accounted for the 
ownership in our real estate interests of these hotels by the equity method) and majority real estate 
interests in the remaining 47 hotels (we consolidate our real estate interest in these hotels). 

The following table illustrates the distribution of our 59 Consolidated Hotels at December 31, 
2013: 

Brand  Hotels  Rooms 
Embassy Suites Hotels 32    8,385  

Holiday Inn 4    1,702  

Sheraton and Westin 4    1,604  

DoubleTree by Hilton and Hilton 5    1,206  

Marriott and Renaissance 3    1,321  

Fairmont 1    383  

Morgans and Royalton 2    285  

Wyndham and Wyndham Grand 8    2,526  

Total 59    17,412  

 
At December 31, 2013, our Consolidated Hotels were located in the United States (58 hotels in 21 

states) and Canada (one hotel in Ontario), with concentrations in California (13 hotels), Florida (7 hotels) 
and Texas (7 hotels).  In 2013, approximately 51% of our revenue was generated from hotels in these 
three states. 

At December 31, 2013, of our 59 Consolidated Hotels (i) subsidiaries of Hilton Hotels 
Corporation, or Hilton, managed 36 hotels, (ii) subsidiaries of Wyndham Hotel Group, or Wyndham, 
managed eight hotels, (iii) subsidiaries of InterContinental Hotels Group, or IHG, managed four hotels, 
(iv) subsidiaries of Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide Inc., or Starwood, managed four hotels, 
(v) subsidiaries of Marriott International Inc., or Marriott, managed three hotels, (vi) a subsidiary of 
Fairmont Hotels & Resorts, or Fairmont, managed one hotel, (vii) a subsidiary of Morgans Hotel Group 
Corporation managed two hotels, and (viii) an independent management company managed one hotel. 
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1. Organization – (continued) 
 

Effective January 1, 2013, our hotels managed by Marriott are accounted for on a 12-month 
calendar year basis as compared to a fiscal year comprised of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the Friday closest 
to December 31, as reported in 2012 and prior years.  Our 12-month period ending December 31, 2013 is 
reported on a calendar year basis for our Marriott-managed hotels, which is consistent with the reporting 
periods for our other managed hotels.  However, our 12-month periods ending December 31, 2012 and 
2011 include the results of operations for the Marriott-managed hotels for the 52-week periods ending on 
December 28, 2012 and December 30, 2011, respectively.  Prior year results have not been restated to 
reflect the reporting period transition as we do not believe the change in periods would result in a material 
difference for comparison of results year over year. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Principles of Consolidation — Our consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses of all majority-owned subsidiaries.  Intercompany transactions and balances are 
eliminated in consolidation.  Investments in unconsolidated entities (consisting entirely of 50% owned ventures) 
are accounted for by the equity method.  None of our less than wholly-owned subsidiaries are considered 
variable interest entities.  We follow the voting interest model and consolidate entities in which we have greater 
than 50% ownership interest and report entities in which we have 50% or less ownership interest under the 
equity method. 

Use of Estimates — The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, requires that management make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

Investment in Hotels — Our hotels are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over estimated useful lives of 40 years for buildings, 15 to 30 years for improvements and 3 to 10 years for 
furniture, fixtures, and equipment. 

We capitalize certain inventory (such as china, glass, silver, linen) at the time of a hotel opening or 
acquisition, or when significant inventory is purchased (in conjunction with a major rooms renovation or when 
the number of rooms or meeting space at a hotel is expanded). These amounts are then amortized over the 
estimated useful life of three years. Subsequent replacement purchases are expensed when placed in service. 
 

We periodically review the carrying value of each of our hotels to determine if circumstances exist 
indicating an impairment in the carrying value of the investment in the hotel or modification of depreciation 
periods.  If facts or circumstances support the possibility of impairment of a hotel, we prepare a projection of the 
undiscounted future cash flows, without interest charges, over the shorter of the hotel’s estimated useful life or 
the expected hold period, and determine if the investment in such hotel is recoverable based on the undiscounted 
future cash flows.  If impairment is indicated, we make an adjustment to reduce the carrying value of the hotel to 
its then fair value.  We use recent operating results and current market information to arrive at our estimates of 
fair value. 

Maintenance and repairs are expensed, and major renewals and improvements are capitalized.   Upon the 
sale or disposition of a fixed asset, the asset and related accumulated depreciation are removed from our 
accounts and the related gain or loss is included in operations. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued) 
 

Acquisition of Hotels — Investments in hotels are based on purchase price and allocated to land, 
property and equipment, identifiable intangible assets and assumed debt and other liabilities at fair value.  Any 
remaining unallocated purchase price, if any, is treated as goodwill.  Property and equipment are recorded at fair 
value based on current replacement cost for similar capacity and allocated to buildings, improvements, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment using appraisals and valuations prepared by management and/or independent third 
parties.  Identifiable intangible assets (typically contracts including ground and retail leases and management and 
franchise agreements) are recorded at fair value, although no value is generally allocated to contracts which are 
at market terms.  Above-market and below-market contract values are based on the present value of the 
difference between contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the contracts acquired and our estimate of the fair 
value of contract rates for corresponding contracts measured over the period equal to the remaining non-
cancelable term of the contract.  Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the 
remaining non-cancelable term of the related agreements.  In making estimates of fair values for purposes of 
allocating purchase price, we may utilize a number of sources such as those obtained in connection with the 
acquisition or financing of a property and other market data, including third-party appraisals and valuations. 
 

Investment in Unconsolidated Entities — We own a 50% interest in various real estate ventures in which 
the partners or members jointly make all material decisions concerning the business affairs and operations. 
Because we do not control these entities, we carry our investment in unconsolidated entities at cost, plus our 
equity in net earnings or losses, less distributions received since the date of acquisition and any adjustment for 
impairment.  Our equity in net earnings or losses is adjusted for the straight-line depreciation, over the lower of 
40 years or the remaining life of the venture, of the difference between our cost and our proportionate share of 
the underlying net assets at the date of acquisition.  We periodically review our investment in unconsolidated 
entities for other-than-temporary declines in fair value.  Any decline that is not expected to be recovered in the 
next 12 months is considered other-than-temporary and an impairment is recorded as a reduction in the carrying 
value of the investment.  Estimated fair values are based on our projections of cash flows, market capitalization 
rates and sales prices of comparable assets. 
 

We track inception-to-date contributions, distributions and earnings for each of our unconsolidated 
investments.  We determine the character of cash distributions from our unconsolidated investments for purposes 
of our consolidated statements of cash flows as follows: 
 

•  Cash distributions up to the aggregate historical earnings of the unconsolidated entity are recorded as an 
operating activity (i.e., a distribution of earnings); and 

•  Cash distributions in excess of aggregate historical earnings are recorded as an investing activity (i.e., 
a distribution of contributed capital). 

 
Hotels Held for Sale — We consider each individual hotel to be an identifiable component of our 

business. We do not consider hotels held for sale until it is probable that the sale will be completed within twelve 
months. 

 
We consider a sale to be probable within the next twelve months (for purposes of determining whether a 

hotel is held for sale) in the period the buyer completes its due diligence review of the asset, we have an 
executed contract for sale, and we have received a substantial non-refundable deposit.  We test hotels held for 
sale for impairment each reporting period and record them at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair value 
less costs to sell.  Once we designate a hotel as held for sale it is not depreciated and it is included in 
discontinued operations.  We had one hotel held for sale at December 31, 2013. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued) 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents — All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less 

when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents. 
 

We place cash deposits at major banks.  Our bank account balances may exceed the Federal Depository 
Insurance Limits; however, management believes the credit risk related to these deposits is minimal. 
 

Restricted Cash —Restricted cash includes reserves for capital expenditures, real estate taxes, and 
insurance, as well as cash collateral deposits for mortgage debt agreement provisions. 
 

Deferred Expenses — Deferred expenses, consisting primarily of loan costs, are recorded at cost.  
Amortization is computed using a method that approximates the effective interest method over the maturity of 
the related debt. 

 
Other Assets — Other assets consist primarily of hotel operating inventories, prepaid expenses and 

deposits. 
 

Revenue Recognition — Nearly 100% of our revenue is comprised of hotel operating revenues, such as 
room revenue, food and beverage revenue, and revenue from other hotel operating departments (such as 
telephone, parking and business centers).  These revenues are recorded net of any sales or occupancy taxes 
collected from our guests as earned.  All rebates or discounts are recorded, when allowed, as a reduction in 
revenue, and there are no material contingent obligations with respect to rebates or discounts offered by us.  All 
revenues are recorded on an accrual basis, as earned.  Appropriate allowances are made for doubtful accounts 
and are recorded as a bad debt expense.  The remainder of our revenue is from condominium management fee 
income and other sources.  
 

We do not have any time-share arrangements and do not sponsor any frequent guest programs for which 
we would have any contingent liability.  We participate in frequent guest programs sponsored by the brand 
owners of our hotels, and we expense the charges associated with those programs (typically consisting of a 
percentage of the total guest charges incurred by a participating guest) as incurred.  When a guest redeems 
accumulated frequent guest points at one of our hotels, the hotel bills the sponsor for the services provided in 
redemption of such points and records revenue in the amount of the charges billed to the sponsor.  We have no 
loss contingencies or ongoing obligation associated with frequent guest programs beyond what is paid to the 
brand owner following a guest’s stay. 
 

Foreign Currency Translation — Results of operations for our Canadian hotel are maintained in 
Canadian dollars and translated using the weighted average exchange rates during the period.  Assets and 
liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date.  Resulting 
translation adjustments are reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income and were $24.9 million and 
$26.0 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

 
Capitalized Costs — We capitalize interest and certain other costs, such as property taxes, land leases, 

property insurance and employee costs relating to hotels undergoing major renovations and redevelopments.  In 
addition, these costs are being capitalized on our Knickerbocker hotel development.  We begin capitalizing these 
costs when activities necessary to get the asset ready for its intended use are underway and cease capitalizing 
these costs to projects when construction is substantially complete.  Such costs capitalized in 2013, 2012 and 
2011, were $23.6 million, $22.2 million and $8.5 million, respectively. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued) 

 
Net Income (Loss) per Common Share — We treat unvested share-based payment awards containing 

non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) as participating securities for 
computation of earnings per share (pursuant to the two-class method, in accordance with the Accounting 
Standards Codification, or ASC, 260-10-45-59A through 45-70). 

 
We compute basic earnings per share by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 

less dividends declared on FelCor’s unvested restricted stock (adjusted for forfeiture assumptions) by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding.  We compute diluted earnings per share by dividing 
net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders less dividends declared on FelCor’s unvested restricted 
stock (adjusted for forfeiture assumptions) by the weighted average number of common shares and equivalents 
outstanding. 
 

For all years presented, our Series A cumulative preferred stock, or Series A preferred stock, if converted 
to common shares, would be antidilutive; accordingly, we do not assume conversion of the Series A preferred 
stock in the computation of diluted earnings per share. 

 
Stock Compensation — We account for stock-based employee compensation using the fair value based 

method of accounting.  We classify share-based payment awards granted in exchange for employee services as 
either equity awards or liability awards.  Equity classified awards are measured based on the fair value on the 
date of grant. Liability classified awards are remeasured to fair value each reporting period. Awards that are to be 
settled in cash (i.e. phantom stock) are classified as liability awards. The value of all our share-based awards, less 
estimated forfeitures, is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in 
exchange for the award – the requisite service period (usually the vesting period).  No compensation cost is 
recognized for awards for which employees do not render the requisite services. 

 
Derivatives — We recognize derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and measure 

those instruments at fair value.  Additionally, the fair value adjustments will affect either equity or net income, 
depending on whether the derivative instrument qualifies as a hedge for accounting purposes and the nature of 
the hedging activity. 

 
Segment Information — We have determined that our business is conducted in one operating segment. 

 
Dividends — In 2011, FelCor reinstated the payment of its current quarterly preferred dividends.  In July 

2012, it paid $30.0 million of accrued unpaid quarterly dividends in arrears, and the remaining $37.7 million in 
arrears was paid in October 2012.  FelCor’s Board of Directors reinstated a quarterly common dividend in 
October 2013, in recognition of our ongoing and successful portfolio repositioning and balance sheet 
restructuring.  At that time, FelCor’s Board of Directors declared a $0.02 per share fourth quarter common stock 
dividend, which was paid in January.  

 
FelCor’s Board of Directors will determine the amount of any future common and preferred dividends 

based upon various factors including operating results, economic conditions, other operating trends, our financial 
condition and capital requirements, as well as minimum REIT distribution requirements. 

 
Reacquired Stock — We account for FelCor’s reacquisition of capital stock under a method that is 

consistent with Maryland law (Maryland is FelCor’s domicile), which does not contemplate treasury stock.  Any 
capital stock reacquired for any purpose is recorded as a reduction of common stock (at $0.01 par value per 
share) and an increase in accumulated deficit. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — (continued) 

 
Noncontrolling Interests — Noncontrolling interests in other partnerships represent the proportionate 

share of the equity in other partnerships not owned by us.  Noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP represents 
FelCor LP units not owned by FelCor.  We allocate income and loss to noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP and 
other partnerships based on the weighted average percentage ownership throughout the year.  FelCor 
characterizes minority interest in FelCor LP as noncontrolling interests, but because of the redemption feature of 
these units, FelCor includes them in the mezzanine section (between liabilities and equity) on its consolidated 
balance sheets.  These units are redeemable at the option of the holders for a like number of shares of FelCor’s 
common stock or, at our option, the cash equivalent thereof.  We adjust redeemable noncontrolling interests in 
FelCor LP each period to reflect the greater of its carrying value based on the accumulation of historical cost or 
its redemption value. 
 

Income Taxes — FelCor has elected to be treated as a REIT under Sections 856 to 860 of the Internal 
Revenue Code and, as such, is not subject to federal income tax, provided that it distributes all of its taxable 
income annually to its stockholders and complies with certain other requirements.  However, FelCor may be 
subject to state, local and foreign income and franchise taxes in certain jurisdictions.  We generally lease our 
hotels to wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs, that are subject to federal, state and foreign income 
taxes.  Through these lessees, we record room revenue, food and beverage revenue and other revenue related to 
the operations of our hotels.  We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method under which 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  
A valuation allowance is recorded for net deferred tax assets that are not expected to be realized. 
 

We determine whether it is “more-likely-than-not” that a tax position will be sustained upon 
examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of 
the position.  Once it is determined that a position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the 
position is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements.  We apply this 
policy to all tax positions related to income taxes. 
 
3. Investment in Hotels 

Investment in hotels consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 

  December 31, 
  2013  2012 

Building and improvements  $ 1,833,165   $ 1,962,164  
Furniture, fixtures and equipment  482,628   488,237  
Land  234,447   248,614  
Construction in progress  32,828   24,847  

  2,583,068   2,723,862  
Accumulated depreciation  (929,801 )  (929,298 ) 

  $ 1,653,267   $ 1,794,564  

In 2013, we retired fully depreciated furniture, fixtures and equipment aggregating approximately 
$43.0 million. 

We invested $101.4 million and $121.5 million in additions and improvements to our consolidated hotels 
during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
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4. Hotel Acquisitions 
 

Royalton/Morgans 
 

In May 2011, we acquired two midtown Manhattan hotels, Royalton and Morgans, with a total of 282 
guest rooms.  The following consolidated unaudited pro forma results of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 assume these hotels were acquired on January 1, 2011.  The pro forma information includes 
revenues, operating expenses, depreciation and amortization.  The unaudited pro forma consolidated results of 
operations are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations if the acquisition had been completed on the 
assumed date.  The consolidated unaudited pro forma results of operations are as follows (in thousands, except 
per share data):  
 

  
Year Ended 

December 31, 
  (unaudited) 
  2011 
Total revenues  $ 819,836  
Net loss  $ (132,087 ) 
Earnings per share - basic and diluted  $ (1.45 ) 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, our consolidated statements of operations included $20.4 million 

of revenues and $1.9 million of net income related to the operations of these hotels. 
 

5. Hotel Development 
 

In December 2011, we acquired a 95% interest in a consolidated joint venture, which acquired the 
Knickerbocker Hotel in midtown Manhattan, New York, for $115 million.  This is a non-operating property 
that we are developing into a hotel with 330 rooms, and we expect the opening of the hotel to be early fall of 
2014.  In addition to the purchase price, the December 31, 2013 and 2012 book values include all subsequent 
development expenditures incurred through those respective dates. 

 
Our Knickerbocker Hotel venture raised $45 million through the sale of 3.5% preferred equity under 

the EB-5 immigrant investor program.  The venture received $40 million in proceeds in February 2014, and 
the remaining $5 million will be received as investors’ visas are approved by the government.  We are using 
our 95% share of the proceeds to repay borrowings under our line of credit. 

6. Impairment Charges 
 

Our hotels are comprised of operations and cash flows that can clearly be distinguished, operationally 
and for financial reporting purposes, from the remainder of our operations.  Accordingly, we consider our hotels 
to be components for purposes of determining impairment charges and reporting discontinued operations. 

 
We test for impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate a hotel’s carrying value may not be 

recoverable.  We conduct the test using undiscounted cash flows for the shorter of the hotel’s estimated hold 
period or its remaining useful life.  When testing for recoverability of hotels held for investment, we use 
projected cash flows over its expected hold period.  Those hotels held for investment that fail the impairment test 
are written down to their then current estimated fair value, before any selling expense, and we continue to 
depreciate the hotels over their remaining useful lives. 



 
 

FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

40 

 
6. Impairment Charges— (continued) 

 
As part of our long-term strategic plan to enhance stockholder value and achieve or exceed targeted 

returns on invested capital, we sell and acquire hotels to improve our overall portfolio quality, enhance 
diversification and improve growth rates.  In that regard, we regularly review each hotel in our portfolio in terms 
of projected performances, future capital expenditure requirements and market dynamics and concentration risk.  
Based on this analysis, we developed a plan to sell our interests in certain hotels (some of which are owned by 
unconsolidated joint ventures) that no longer meet our investment criteria.  As a consequence, we shortened our 
estimated hold periods for these hotels, and we tested the consolidated hotels for impairment when they were 
approved as non-strategic hotels. When the hotels owned by unconsolidated joint ventures are designated by 
those ventures as non-strategic, the joint ventures will test for impairment based on the reduced estimated hold 
periods. 

 
In 2011, we recorded impairment charges of $13.2 million related to consolidated non-strategic hotels 

($4.3 million related to one hotel included in continuing operations and $8.9 million related to four hotels 
included in discontinued operations).  The impairment charges related to four of the hotels were based on revised 
estimated fair market values obtained through the marketing process that were lower than the net book values for 
those hotels.  The inputs used to determine the fair values of those hotels were classified as Level 2 under 
authoritative guidance for fair value measurements.  The impairment charge related to the remaining hotel was 
primarily related to estimated selling costs. 
 

In 2012, we recorded a $1.3 million impairment charge related to one hotel included in discontinued 
operations.  The impairment charge related to this hotel was based on a third-party offer to purchase (a Level 2 
input under authoritative guidance for fair value measurements) at a price below our previously estimated fair 
market value. 
 

In 2013, we recorded a $28.8 million impairment charge ($24.4 million related to two hotels included in 
continuing operations and $4.4 million related to two hotels included in discontinued operations).   
 

The $4.4 million impairment charge was primarily based on third-party offers to purchase (a Level 2 
input under authoritative guidance for fair value measurements) at prices below our previously estimated fair 
market values for those properties.  These are hotels we had identified as sale candidates in prior years, reducing 
their estimated hold period at that time. 
 

As part of our strategic plan, we may identify hotels that no longer meet our investment criteria.  We 
identified two additional such hotels, thereby significantly reducing their respective estimated hold periods, 
resulting in impairments on both hotels in 2013.  A portion ($24.4 million) of 2013 impairment charges relates to 
these hotels and was determined using Level 3 inputs, as follows: 

 
•  with respect to one hotel, we used a discounted cash flow analysis with an estimated stabilized 

growth rate of 3.0%, a discounted cash flow term of five years, a terminal capitalization rate of 
8.0%, and a discount rate of 10.0%; and 

 
•  with respect to the other hotel, we used information based on EBITDA multiples ranging from 10 to 

12 times. 
 

We may record additional impairment charges if operating results of individual hotels are materially 
different from our forecasts, the economy and lodging industry weakens, or we shorten our contemplated holding 
period for additional hotels. 
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7. Conversion Expenses 

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we decided to convert eight Holiday Inn hotels to the Wyndham 
Hotels & Resorts brand and management effective March 1, 2013.  The expenses incurred related to 
converting these hotels have been classified as conversion expenses in the accompanying statements of 
operations.  Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 included $30.7 million of accrued IHG 
termination fees, which were paid in the first quarter of 2013, while $1.1 million was incurred in 2013 for 
additional costs related to the conversion to the Wyndham brand. 

 
8. Discontinued Operations 

 
Discontinued operations primarily include results of operations for one hotel designated as held 

for sale at December 31, 2013, five hotels sold in 2013, ten hotels sold in 2012, and eight hotels sold in 
2011. 

 
Results of operations for the hotels included in discontinued operations are as follows (in 

thousands): 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
Hotel operating revenue  $ 33,849    $ 107,637    $ 179,649  
Operating expenses(a)  (34,553 )   (95,600 )   (175,210 ) 
Operating income (loss) from discontinued operations  (704 )   12,037    4,439  
Interest expense, net  (793 )   (5,832 )   (9,674 ) 
Debt extinguishment  —    (2,767 )   3,260  
Gain (loss) on involuntary conversion  66    —    (15 ) 
Gain on sale, net  19,441    54,459    4,714  
Income from discontinued operations  $ 18,010    $ 57,897    $ 2,724  
 

(a) Includes impairment charges of $4.4 million, $1.3 million and $8.9 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

 
9. Investment in Unconsolidated Entities 
 

We owned 50% interests in joint ventures that owned 13 hotels at December 31, 2013 and 
December 31, 2012.  We also owned 50% interests in entities that provide condominium management 
services and own real estate in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.  We account for our investments in these 
unconsolidated entities under the equity method.  We do not have any majority-owned subsidiaries that 
are not consolidated in our financial statements.  We make adjustments to our equity in income from 
unconsolidated entities related to the difference between our basis in investment in unconsolidated entities 
compared to the historical basis of the assets recorded by the joint ventures. 
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9. Investment in Unconsolidated Entities — (continued) 

 
The following table summarizes combined balance sheet information for our unconsolidated 

entities (in thousands): 
 
 December 31, 
 2013  2012 

Investment in hotels, net of accumulated depreciation $ 140,145   $ 155,888  
Total assets $ 155,848   $ 170,477  
Debt $ 146,358   $ 148,395  
Total liabilities $ 152,068   $ 154,139  
Equity $ 3,780   $ 16,338  

 
Our unconsolidated entities’ debt at December 31, 2013, consisted entirely of non-recourse 

mortgage debt. 
 
The following table sets forth summarized combined statement of operations information for our 

unconsolidated entities and a reconciliation of the net income (loss) attributable to FelCor and our equity 
in income (loss) from unconsolidated entities (in thousands): 
 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Total revenues $ 70,697   $ 67,725   $ 62,782  
Net income (loss) $ 12,892   $ 9,278   $ (416 ) 
      
Net income (loss) attributable to FelCor $ 6,446   $ 4,639   $ (208 ) 
Depreciation of cost in excess of book value (1,860 )  (1,860 )  (1,860 ) 
Equity in income (loss) from unconsolidated entities $ 4,586   $ 2,779   $ (2,068 ) 

 
The following table summarizes the components of our investment in unconsolidated entities 

(in thousands): 
 
 December 31, 
 2013  2012 
Hotel-related investments $ (6,349 )  $ 246  
Cost in excess of book value of hotel investments 45,053   46,913  
Land and condominium investments 8,239   7,923  
 $ 46,943   $ 55,082  

 
The following table summarizes the components of our equity in income (loss) from 

unconsolidated entities (in thousands): 
 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Hotel investments $ 5,270   $ 3,434   $ (1,348 ) 
Other investments (684 )  (655 )  (720 ) 
Equity in income (loss) from unconsolidated entities $ 4,586   $ 2,779   $ (2,068 ) 
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10. Debt 

Consolidated debt consisted of the following (in thousands): 

  
Encumbered 

Hotels 

  
Interest Rate 

(%) 

   December 31, 
   Maturity Date  2013  2012 
Line of credit  9    LIBOR + 3.375  June 2016(a)  $ 88,000   $ 56,000  
Hotel mortgage debt             

Mortgage debt(b)  5    6.66    June - August 2014  63,337   65,431  

Mortgage debt  1    5.81    July 2016  9,904   10,405  

Mortgage debt(b)  4    4.95    October 2022  126,220   128,066  

Mortgage debt  1    4.94    October 2022  31,714   32,176  

Senior notes             
Senior secured notes(c)  11    10.00    October 2014  229,190   223,586  

Senior secured notes  6    6.75    June 2019  525,000   525,000  

Senior secured notes  9    5.625    March 2023  525,000   525,000  

Other(d)  —    LIBOR + 1.25  May 2016  64,861   64,861  

Total  46         $ 1,663,226   $ 1,630,525  

 
(a) Our $225 million line of credit can be extended for one year (to 2017), subject to satisfying 

certain conditions. 
(b) This debt is comprised of separate non-cross-collateralized loans each secured by a mortgage of 

a different hotel. 
(c) We originally issued $636 million (face amount) of these notes.  After redemptions in 2011 and 

2012, $234 million (face amount) of these notes were outstanding at December 31, 2013.  
These notes were initially sold at a discount that provided an effective yield of 12.875% before 
transaction costs. 

(d) This loan is related to our Knickerbocker Hotel development project and is fully secured by 
restricted cash and a mortgage.  Because we were able to assume an existing loan when we 
purchased this hotel, we were not required to pay any local mortgage recording tax.  This loan, 
which allows us to borrow up to $85 million, can be extended for one year subject to satisfying 
certain conditions. 

In May 2012, we repaid $69.2 million in secured loans when we sold the hotels mortgaged to 
secure those loans. 

In August 2012, we repaid a $24.9 million secured loan when we sold the hotel mortgaged to 
secure that loan. 

In September 2012, we closed five mortgage loans thereby obtaining $160.8 million in aggregate 
gross proceeds.  The 10-year loans mature in 2022, bear an average fixed interest rate of 4.95% and are 
neither cross-collateralized nor cross-defaulting.  A portion of the proceeds from the new loans was used 
to repay a 9.02% mortgage loan, of which $107 million was outstanding, that would otherwise mature in 
2014.  The repaid loan was secured by a pool of seven hotels, including four of the five hotels mortgaged 
to support the new loans.  Also in September 2012, we repaid the remaining $60 million balance of a 
mortgage loan using excess proceeds from the new loans, as well as asset sale proceeds.  This repaid loan, 
which would have otherwise matured in 2013, was secured by five properties, of which three became 
unencumbered (two of which were non-strategic).  The repayments resulted in $11.6 million in debt 
extinguishment costs, primarily prepayment penalties.   
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10. Debt – (continued) 

In December 2012, we issued $525.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior 
secured notes due 2023, significantly reducing our cost of borrowing.  We used the proceeds to redeem 
$258.0 million in aggregate face amount of 10% senior notes due 2014 and repay a $186.5 million 
mortgage loan that bore interest at 8.1% with the remaining proceeds used to repay a portion of the 
balance on our outstanding line of credit and to pay prepayment costs and other expenses.  We incurred 
$62.1 million of debt extinguishment charges related to these transactions for prepayment premiums, and 
the write-off of a pro rata portion of the related debt discount on the senior notes and deferred loan costs. 

In March 2011, we established a $225.0 million secured line of credit.  At the same time, we 
repaid a $198.3 million secured loan and a $28.8 million secured loan with a combination of 
$52.1 million of cash on hand and funds drawn under our new line of credit (all of which was 
subsequently repaid).  The repaid loans would have matured in 2013 and 2012 (including extensions), 
respectively, and were secured by mortgages on 11 hotels.  In December 2012, we amended and restated 
our $225.0 million secured line of credit facility.  The facility now matures in June 2017 (extended from 
August 2015), inclusive of a one-year extension option, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.  
Borrowings under the facility bear interest at LIBOR (no floor) plus 3.375% (reduced from LIBOR plus 
4.5%).  The unused commitment fee decreased 10 basis points to 40 basis points.  The facility is secured 
by mortgages and related security interests on nine hotels 

In October 2011, we modified the term of a CMBS mortgage loan scheduled to mature in 
November 2011, extending its maturity for up to two years.  The average interest rate on the modified 
loan was LIBOR plus 2.2% and was prepayable at any time, in whole or in part, with no penalty.  In 
conjunction with the modification, we repaid $20.0 million of the principal balance, reducing the 
outstanding balance to $158 million at that time.  This loan was repaid in September 2012. 

In November 2012, we obtained an $85.0 million construction loan to finance the redevelopment 
of the Knickerbocker.  The balance of the loan assumed when we acquired the Knickerbocker in 
December 2011 ($64.9 million) was repaid with an initial draw under the construction loan.  At 
December 31, 2013, $64.9 million was outstanding under the construction loan, secured by cash collateral 
and a mortgage. 

Our senior notes require that we satisfy total leverage, secured leverage and interest coverage 
thresholds in order to: (i) incur additional indebtedness except to refinance maturing debt with 
replacement debt, as defined under our indentures; (ii) pay dividends in excess of the minimum 
distributions required to meet the REIT qualification test; (iii) repurchase capital stock; or (iv) merge.  We 
currently exceed all minimum thresholds. These notes are guaranteed by us, and payment of our 10.00% 
notes are secured by a pledge of the limited partner interests in FelCor LP owned by FelCor.  In addition, 
our senior notes are secured by a combination of first lien mortgages and related security interests and/or 
negative pledges on up to 26 hotels, and pledges of equity interests in certain subsidiaries of FelCor LP. 

At December 31, 2013, we had consolidated secured debt totaling $1.7 billion, encumbering 46 of 
our consolidated hotels with a $1.6 billion aggregate net book value.  Except in the case of our Senior 
Notes, our mortgage debt is generally recourse solely to the specific assets securing the debt.  However, a 
violation of any of the recourse carve-out provisions, including fraud, misapplication of funds and other 
customary recourse carve-out provisions, could cause this debt to become fully recourse to us.  Much of 
our hotel mortgage debt allows us to substitute collateral under certain conditions and is prepayable 
subject (in some instances) to various prepayment, yield maintenance or defeasance obligations. 
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10. Debt – (continued) 

Much of our secured debt (other than our senior notes) includes lock-box arrangements under 
certain circumstances. We are permitted to spend an amount required to cover our budgeted hotel 
operating expenses, taxes, debt service, insurance and capital expenditure reserves even if revenues are 
flowing through a lock-box in cases where a specified debt service coverage ratio is not met.  With the 
exception of loans secured by two hotels, all of our consolidated hotels subject to lock-box provisions 
currently exceed the applicable minimum debt service coverage ratios. 

To fulfill requirements under certain loans, we owned interest rate caps with aggregate notional 
amounts of $202.4 million as of December 31, 2012.  These interest rate caps were not designated as 
hedges and had insignificant fair values at December 31, 2012, resulting in no significant net earnings 
impact.  We did not have any interest rate caps outstanding as of December 31, 2013.   

We reported $103.8 million, $121.6 million, and $126.0 million of interest expense for the years 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, which is net of: (i) interest income of $78,000, 
$138,000, and $234,000, and (ii) capitalized interest of $12.8 million, $12.9 million, and $2.2 million, 
respectively.   

Future scheduled principal payments on debt obligations at December 31, 2013 are as follows (in 
thousands): 

Year   
2014  $ 300,045  
2015  3,107  
2016  164,322  
2017  2,810  
2018  2,954  
Thereafter  1,194,702  
  1,667,940  
Discount accretion over term  (4,714 ) 

  $ 1,663,226  
 
11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

Our estimates of the fair value of (i) cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate carrying value due to the relatively short 
maturity of these instruments; (ii) our publicly-traded debt is based on observable market data (a Level 2 
input) and has an estimated fair value of $1.3 billion at December 31, 2013 and 2012; and (iii) our debt 
that is not publicly-traded is based on a discounted cash flow model using effective borrowing rates for 
debt with similar terms, loan to estimated fair value of collateral and remaining maturities (a Level 3 
input) and has an estimated fair value of $390.1 million and $369.6 million at December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively.  The estimated fair value of all our debt was $1.7 billion at December 31, 2013 and 
2012 (with a carrying value of $1.7 billion and $1.6 billion at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively). 

Disclosures about fair value of financial instruments are based on pertinent information available 
to management as of December 31, 2013.  Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data 
and develop estimated fair value.  Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts that we could realize on disposition of the financial instruments. The use of 
different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the 
estimated fair value amounts. 
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12. Income Taxes 

FelCor elected to be treated as a REIT under the federal income tax laws. As a REIT, FelCor 
generally is not subject to federal income taxation at the corporate level on taxable income that is 
distributed to its stockholders. FelCor may, however, be subject to certain state and local taxes on its 
income and property and to federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable income.  FelCor’s 
taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs, formed to lease its hotels are subject to federal, state and local 
income taxes.  A REIT is subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a 
requirement that it currently distribute at least 90% of its annual taxable income to its stockholders.  If 
FelCor fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year for which the statute of limitations remains open, it 
will be subject to federal income taxes at regular corporate rates (including any applicable alternative 
minimum tax) for such taxable year and may not qualify as a REIT for four subsequent years.  In 
connection with FelCor’s election to be treated as a REIT, its charter imposes restrictions on the 
ownership and transfer of shares of its common stock. FelCor LP expects to make distributions on its 
units sufficient to enable FelCor to meet its distribution obligations as a REIT. 

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. 

The following table reconciles our TRSs’ GAAP net income (loss) to taxable income (loss) (in 
thousands): 

  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
GAAP consolidated net loss attributable to FelCor  $ (61,504 )  $ (128,007 )  $ (129,854 ) 
GAAP net loss from REIT operations  62,513   125,088   127,709  
GAAP net income (loss) of taxable subsidiaries  1,009   (2,919 )  (2,145 ) 
Impairment loss not deductible for tax  —   —   946  
Gain/loss differences from dispositions  —   (407 )  (7,841 ) 
Depreciation and amortization(a)  1,646   404   1,389  
Employee benefits not deductible for tax  3,914   363   (1,578 ) 
Management fee recognition  (1,245 )  (1,715 )  (1,717 ) 
Foreign exchange  —   12,907   —  
Capitalized TRS start-up costs  4,981   —   —  
Other book/tax differences  2,754   4,884   (552 ) 
Tax income (loss) of taxable subsidiaries before utilization 

of net operating losses  13,059   13,517   (11,498 ) 
Utilization of net operating loss  (13,059 )  (13,517 )  —  
Net tax loss of taxable subsidiaries  $ —   $ —   $ (11,498 ) 
 

(a) The changes in book/tax differences in depreciation and amortization principally result from 
book and tax basis differences, differences in depreciable lives and accelerated depreciation 
methods. 
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12. Income Taxes — (continued) 

 
Our TRS had a deferred tax asset, on which we had a 100% valuation allowance, primarily 

comprised of the following (in thousands): 
 
  December 31, 
  2013  2012 

Accumulated net operating losses of TRS  $ 119,355   $ 124,318  
Tax property basis in excess of book  1,017   869  
Accrued employee benefits not deductible for tax  3,477   2,291  
Management fee recognition  464   932  
Foreign exchange  4,905   4,905  
Capitalized TRS start-up costs  1,893   —  
Other  701   914  
Gross deferred tax asset  131,812   134,229  
Valuation allowance  (131,812 )  (134,229 ) 
Deferred tax asset after valuation allowance  $ —   $ —  

 
We have provided a valuation allowance against our deferred tax asset at December 31, 2013 and 

2012, that results in no net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2013 and 2012 due to the uncertainty of 
realization (because of historical operating losses).  Accordingly, no provision or benefit for income taxes 
is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  At December 31, 2013, our TRS 
had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of $314.2 million, which are 
available to offset future taxable income, if any, and do not begin to expire until 2022. 

 
The following table reconciles REIT GAAP net loss to taxable loss (in thousands): 

 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 

GAAP net loss from REIT operations  $ (62,513 )  $ (125,088 )  $ (127,709 ) 
Book/tax differences, net:       

Depreciation and amortization(a)  2,173   2,084   6,183  
Noncontrolling interests  (4,017 )  4,112   4,149  
Gain/loss differences from dispositions  (2,032 )  (30,747 )  (30,502 ) 
Impairment loss not deductible for tax  28,795   1,335   12,303  
Conversion costs  (2,099 )  31,197   —  
Other  8,453   (9,226 )  (1,974 ) 

Tax loss(b)  $ (31,240 )  $ (126,333 )  $ (137,550 ) 
 

(a) Book/tax differences in depreciation and amortization principally result from differences in 
depreciable lives and accelerated depreciation methods. 

(b) The dividend distribution requirement is 90% of any taxable income. 
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12. Income Taxes — (continued) 
 

At December 31, 2013, FelCor had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax 
purposes of $499.4 million, which it expects to use to offset future distribution requirements. 
 

For income tax purposes, dividends paid consist of ordinary income, capital gains, return of 
capital or a combination thereof.  Dividends paid per share were characterized as follows: 

 
 2013  2012  2011 
 Amount  %  Amount  %  Amount  % 
Preferred Stock – Series A            
Dividend income $ —   —   $ —   —   $ —   —  
Return of capital 1.95  (c) 100.00   5.3625  (b) 100.00   1.95  (a) 100.00  
 $ 1.95   100.00   $ 5.3625   100.00   $ 1.95   100.00  
Preferred Stock – Series C            
Dividend income $ —   —   $ —   —   $ —   —  
Return of capital 2.00  (c) 100.00   5.50  (b) 100.00   2.00  (a) 100.00  
 $ 2.00   100.00   $ 5.50   100.00   $ 2.00   100.00  
 

(a) Fourth quarter 2010 preferred distributions were paid January 31, 2011, and were treated as 
2011 distributions for tax purposes. 

(b) Fourth quarter 2011 preferred distributions were paid January 31, 2012, and were treated as 
2012 distributions for tax purposes. 

(c) Fourth quarter 2012 preferred distributions were paid January 31, 2013, and were treated as 
2013 distributions for tax purposes. 
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13. FelCor Capital Stock 

 
FelCor, as FelCor LP’s general partner, is obligated to contribute the net proceeds from any issuance of 

its equity securities to FelCor LP in exchange for units, corresponding in number and terms to the equity 
securities issued. 
 
Preferred Stock 
 

FelCor’s Board of Directors is authorized to provide for the issuance of up to 20 million shares of 
preferred stock in one or more series, to establish the number of shares in each series, to fix the designation, 
powers, preferences and rights of each such series, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof. 
 

Our Series A preferred stock bears an annual cumulative dividend payable in arrears equal to the greater 
of $1.95 per share or the cash distributions declared or paid for the corresponding period on the number of shares 
of common stock into which the Series A preferred stock is then convertible. Each share of the Series A preferred 
stock is convertible at the holder’s option to 0.7752 shares of common stock, subject to certain adjustments. 
 

Our 8% Series C Cumulative Redeemable preferred stock, or Series C preferred stock, bears an annual 
cumulative dividend of 8% of the liquidation preference (equivalent to $2.00 per depositary share).  We may call 
the Series C preferred stock and the corresponding depositary shares at $25 per depositary share.  These shares 
have no stated maturity, sinking fund or mandatory redemption, and are not convertible into any of our other 
securities.  The Series C preferred stock has a liquidation preference of $2,500 per share (equivalent to $25.00 
per depositary share). 
 
FelCor Common Stock Offerings 
 

In April 2011, FelCor sold 27.6 million shares of its common stock at $6.00 per share in a public 
offering.  The net proceeds from the offering were $158 million and were contributed to FelCor LP in exchange 
for a like number of common units.  Net proceeds from this offering (after underwriting discounts and 
commissions) were used to redeem $144 million of our 10% senior notes. 
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14. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests in FelCor LP  
 

FelCor LP may issue limited partnership units to third parties in exchange for cash or property.  We 
record these redeemable noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP in the mezzanine section (between liabilities and 
equity) of our consolidated balance sheets because of the redemption feature of these units. Additionally, 
FelCor’s consolidated statements of operations separately present earnings attributable to redeemable 
noncontrolling interests. We adjust redeemable noncontrolling interests in FelCor LP each period to reflect the 
greater of its carrying value based on the accumulation of historical cost or its redemption value.  The historical 
cost is based on the proportionate relationship between the carrying value of equity associated with FelCor’s 
common stockholders relative to that of FelCor LP’s unitholders.  Redemption value is based on the closing 
price of FelCor’s common stock at period end.  FelCor allocates net income (loss) to FelCor LP’s noncontrolling 
partners based on their weighted average ownership percentage during the period. 
 

In May 2011, FelCor LP issued 367,647 limited partnership units at $6.80 per unit.  At December 31, 
2013, we carried these units at $3.0 million and the remaining 249,895 outstanding limited partnership units 
were carried at $2.0 million.  The current value of the outstanding units is based on the closing price of FelCor’s 
common stock at December 31, 2013 ($8.16/share). 
 

Changes in redeemable noncontrolling interests are shown below (in thousands): 
 

  
Year Ended 

December 31, 
  2013  2012 
Balance at beginning of period  $ 2,902   $ 3,026  
Conversion of units  (23 )  (45 ) 
Forfeiture of units  —   (15 ) 
Redemption value allocation  2,663   776  
Comprehensive loss:     
Foreign exchange translation  (6 )  2  
Net loss (497 )  (842 ) 
Balance at end of period  $ 5,039   $ 2,902  
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15. Hotel Operating Revenue, Departmental Expenses and Other Property Related Operating Costs 

 
Hotel operating revenue from continuing operations was comprised of the following (in thousands): 

 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Room revenue $ 692,016    $ 667,708    $ 623,308  
Food and beverage revenue 151,233    142,962    133,231  
Other operating departments 46,757    48,271    49,002  

Total hotel operating revenue $ 890,006    $ 858,941    $ 805,541  
 
Nearly 100% of our revenue in all periods presented was comprised of hotel operating revenues, which 

includes room revenue, food and beverage revenue, and revenue from other operating departments (such as 
telephone, parking and business centers).  These revenues are recorded net of any sales or occupancy taxes 
collected from our guests. All rebates or discounts are recorded, when allowed, as a reduction in revenue, and 
there are no material contingent obligations with respect to rebates or discounts offered by us. All revenues are 
recorded on an accrual basis, as earned.  Appropriate allowances are made for doubtful accounts and are 
recorded as a bad debt expense.  The remainder of our revenue was from condominium management fee income 
and other sources. 
 

Hotel departmental expenses from continuing operations were comprised of the following 
(in thousands): 
 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Room $ 184,840    $ 179,602    $ 168,546  
Food and beverage 120,287    114,815    106,131  
Other operating departments 21,954    21,682    22,583  

Total hotel departmental expenses $ 327,081    $ 316,099    $ 297,260  
 

Other property operating costs from continuing operations were comprised of the following 
(in thousands): 
 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Hotel general and administrative expense $ 80,715    $ 78,280    $ 73,903  
Marketing 74,770    72,342    66,684  
Repair and maintenance 45,057    44,319    41,573  
Utilities 37,573    36,988    38,819  

Total other property operating costs $ 238,115    $ 231,929    $ 220,979  
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15. Hotel Operating Revenue, Departmental Expenses and Other Property Related Operating 

Costs — (continued) 

In March 2013, we rebranded and transitioned management at eight core Holiday Inn hotels located in 
strategic markets to Wyndham brands.  Wyndham's parent guaranteed a minimum level of net operating income 
for each year of the initial 10-year term, subject to an aggregate $100 million limit over the term and an annual 
$21.5 million limit.  Amounts recorded under the guaranty will be accounted for, to the extent available, as a 
reduction in contractual management and other fees paid and payable to Wyndham.  Any amounts in excess of 
those fees will be recorded as revenue when earned.  For March through December 2013 (the first ten months 
during which Wyndham managed the hotels for FelCor), we have recorded an $8 million guaranty as a reduction 
of Wyndham's contractual management and other fees. 

16. Taxes, Insurance and Lease Expenses 

Taxes, insurance and lease expenses from continuing operations were comprised of the following 
(in thousands): 

 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Hotel lease expense(a) $ 44,087    $ 41,342    $ 38,759  
Land lease expense(b) 11,062    11,158    10,582  
Real estate and other taxes 30,977    29,974    26,454  
Property insurance, general liability insurance and other 10,068    9,692    7,332  

  Total taxes, insurance and lease expense $ 96,194    $ 92,166    $ 83,127  
 

(a) Hotel lease expense is recorded by the consolidated operating lessees of 12 hotels owned by 
unconsolidated entities, and is partially (generally 49%) offset through noncontrolling interests in 
other partnerships.  Our 50% share of the corresponding lease income is recorded through equity in 
income from unconsolidated entities.  Hotel lease expense includes percentage rent of $22.2 million, 
$19.6 million and $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. 

(b) Land lease expense includes percentage rent of $5.4 million, $5.5 million and $4.7 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively. 

17. Land Leases and Hotel Rent 
 

We lease land occupied by certain hotels from third parties under various operating leases that expire 
through 2101.  Certain land leases contain contingent rent features based on gross revenue at the respective 
hotels.  In addition, we recognize rent expense for 12 hotels that are owned by unconsolidated entities and are 
leased to our consolidated lessees.  These leases require the payment of base rents and contingent rent based on 
revenues at the respective hotels.  Future minimum lease payments under our land lease obligations and hotel 
leases at December 31, 2013, were as follows (in thousands): 

Year  
2014 $ 23,001 
2015 20,943 
2016 17,856 
2017 7,928 
2018 5,577 
2019 and thereafter 265,632 

 $ 340,937 
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18. Loss Per Share 
 

The following tables set forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share (in thousands, except 
per share data): 
 
 Year Ended December 31, 
 2013  2012  2011 
Numerator:      

Net loss attributable to FelCor $ (61,504 )  $ (128,007 )  $ (129,854 ) 
Discontinued operations attributable to FelCor (16,963 )  (57,515 )  (2,673 ) 
Loss from continuing operations attributable to FelCor (78,467 )  (185,522 )  (132,527 ) 

Less: Preferred dividends (38,713 )  (38,713 )  (38,713 ) 
Loss from continuing operations attributable to FelCor 

common stockholders (117,180 )  (224,235 )  (171,240 ) 
Discontinued operations attributable to FelCor 16,963   57,515   2,673  

Numerator for basic and diluted loss attributable to FelCor 
common stockholders $ (100,217 )  $ (166,720 )  $ (168,567 ) 

Denominator:      
Denominator for basic and diluted loss per share 123,818   123,634   117,068  

Basic and diluted loss per share data:      
Loss from continuing operations $ (0.95 )  $ (1.81 )  $ (1.46 ) 
Discontinued operations $ 0.14   $ 0.47   $ 0.02  
Net loss $ (0.81 )  $ (1.35 )  $ (1.44 ) 
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18. Loss Per Share— (continued) 

 
Securities that could potentially dilute basic loss per share in the future that were not included in the 

computation of diluted loss per share, because they would have been antidilutive for the periods presented, are as 
follows (unaudited, in thousands): 
 
  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 

Series A convertible preferred shares  9,985   9,985   9,985  
Restricted stock units  547   —   —  

 
Series A preferred dividends that would be excluded from net income (loss) available to FelCor common 

stockholders, if the Series A preferred shares were dilutive, were $25.1 million for all periods presented. 
 
In February 2013, our executive officers were granted restricted stock units providing them with the 

potential to earn up to 1,250,000 common shares.  The potential impact of these restricted stock units on our 
earnings per share, had they been dilutive, was calculated using the treasury stock method. 
 
19. Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions 

Our property insurance has a $100,000 “all-risk” deductible and, a 5% deductible (insured value) for 
named windstorm coverage and for California earthquake coverage.  Substantial uninsured or not fully-insured 
losses would have a material adverse impact on our operating results, cash flows and financial condition.  
Catastrophic losses, such as the losses caused by hurricanes in 2005, could make the cost of insuring against 
these types of losses prohibitively expensive or difficult to find.  In an effort to limit the cost of insurance, we 
purchase catastrophic insurance coverage based on probable maximum losses based on 250-year events and have 
only purchased terrorism insurance to the extent required by our lenders.  We have established a self-insured 
retention of $250,000 per occurrence for general liability insurance with regard to 47 of our hotels.  The 
remainder of our hotels participate in general liability programs sponsored by our managers, with no deductible. 

There is no litigation pending or known to be threatened against us or affecting any of our hotels, other 
than claims arising in the ordinary course of business or which are not considered to be material. Furthermore, 
most of these claims are substantially covered by insurance. We do not believe that any claims known to us, 
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on us. 

Our hotels are operated under various management agreements that call for minimum base management 
fees, which generally range from 1 – 3% of total revenue, with the exception of our IHG-managed hotels, whose 
base management fees are 2% of total revenue plus 5% of room revenue.  Most of our management agreements 
also allow for incentive management fees that are subordinated to our return on investment and are generally 
capped at 2 to 3% of total revenue.  In addition, the management agreements generally require us to invest 
approximately 3 to 5% of revenues for capital expenditures.  The management agreements have terms from 5 to 
20 years and generally have renewal options. 

The management agreements governing the operations of 27 of our Consolidated Hotels contain the 
right and license to operate the hotel under the specified brands.  The remaining 32 Consolidated Hotels operate 
under franchise or license agreements that are separate from our management agreements.  Typically, our 
franchise or license agreements provide for a license fee or royalty of 4% to 5% of room revenues.  In the event 
we breach one of these agreements, in addition to losing the right to use the brand name for the operation of the 
applicable hotel, we may be liable, under certain circumstances, for liquidated damages equal to the fees paid to 
the franchisor with respect to that hotel during the three preceding years.  
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20. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosure 

In 2013, 2012 and 2011, we allocated $23,000, $44,500 and $97,000 respectively, of noncontrolling 
interests to additional paid-in capital with regard to the exchange of 3,839, 11,473 and 15,947 units, respectively, 
for common stock.  In addition, in 2012, we received 3,571 units as payment for amounts owed to us by a unit 
holder. 

Depreciation and amortization expense is comprised of the following (in thousands): 

  Year Ended December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011 
Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations  $ 119,624   $ 116,384   $ 110,498  
Depreciation and amortization from discontinued operations  4,923   13,102   28,394  
Total depreciation and amortization expense  $ 124,547   $ 129,486   $ 138,892  

For the year ended December 31, 2013, our repayment of borrowings consisted of payments on our line 
of credit of $132.0 million and normal recurring principal payments of $4.9 million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2012, our repayment of borrowings consisted of debt retirement of 
$828.0 million, payments on our line of credit of $192.0 million and normal recurring principal payments of 
$23.3 million. 

For the year ended December 31, 2011, our repayment of borrowings consisted of debt retirement of 
$983.4 million, payments on our line of credit of $145.0 million and normal recurring principal payments of 
$7.4 million. 

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, the changes in accrued expenses and other 
liabilities related to investment in hotels and hotel development were an increase of $11.0 million, a decrease of 
$3.1 million, and an increase of $6.1 million, respectively. 
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21. FelCor Stock Based Compensation Plans 

FelCor sponsors one restricted stock and stock option plan, or the Plan.  FelCor is authorized to issue up 
to 6,000,000 shares of common stock under the Plan pursuant to awards granted in the form of incentive stock 
options, non-qualified stock options, and restricted stock.  Stock grants vest either over three to five years in 
equal annual installments or over a four year schedule, subject to time-based and performance-based vesting.  
There were 2,073,587 shares available for grant under the Plan at December 31, 2013. 

FelCor Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units 

A summary of the status of FelCor’s restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants as of December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011, and the changes during these years is presented below: 

 2013  2012  2011 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Market 
Value 

at Grant  

 
 
 
 
 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Market 
Value 

at Grant  

 
 
 
 
 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Fair 
Market 
Value 

at Grant 
Outstanding at beginning of the 

year 4,239,825   $ 10.45   4,290,318   $ 10.58   4,200,089   $ 10.69  
Granted:            

With immediate vesting(a) —   $ —   —   $ —   95,000   $ 5.85  
With 5-year pro rata vesting 15,000   $ 6.13   10,000   $ 4.40   —   $ —  
With up to 4-year pro rata vesting 1,250,000   $ 4.09   —   $ —   —   $ —  

Forfeited —     (60,493 )  $ 18.60   (4,771 )  $ 12.20  
Outstanding at end of year 5,504,825   $ 9.00   4,239,825   $ 10.45   4,290,318   $ 10.58  
Vested at end of year (4,234,825 )  $ 10.46   (3,936,492 )  $ 10.97   (3,632,564 )  $ 11.54  
Unvested at end of year 1,270,000   $ 4.12   303,333   $ 3.71   657,754   $ 5.30  

(a) Shares awarded to directors. 

The unearned compensation cost of FelCor’s granted but unvested restricted stock and units as of 
December 31, 2013 was $2.6 million.  The weighted average period over which this cost is to be amortized is 
approximately one year. 

In February 2013, our executive officers were granted restricted stock units providing them with the 
potential to earn up to 1,250,000 common shares, collectively, vesting in three increments over four years, based 
on total stockholder return relative to a group of 10 lodging REIT peers.  The fixed cost of these grants is 
amortized over the vesting period.  The February 2013 grant also provides that to the extent any of these 
executive officers earn more than 250,000 shares upon vesting of this grant, the excess is settled in cash.  To the 
extent there is excess likely to settle in cash, these awards are accounted for as liability awards, the fair value of 
which is remeasured at the end of each reporting period.  The liability accrued for these awards as of 
December 31, 2013 was $1.0 million.  Fair estimates are based on a Monte Carlo simulation. 
 
 
  
 



 
 

FELCOR LODGING TRUST INCORPORATED 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

57 

 
22. Employee Benefits 
 

FelCor offers a 401(k) retirement savings plan and health insurance benefits to its employees.  FelCor’s 
matching contribution to its 401(k) plan totaled $943,000 during 2013, $956,000 during 2012 and $1.0 million 
for 2011.  Health insurance benefits cost $1.1 million for fiscal years ended December 31, 2013,  2012 and  
2011. 

The employees at our hotels are employees of the respective management companies. Under the 
management agreements, we reimburse the management companies for the compensation and benefits related to 
the employees who work at our hotels.  We are not, however, the sponsors of their employee benefit plans. 
 
23. Segment Information 
 

We have determined that our business is conducted in one operating segment because of the similar 
economic characteristics of our hotels. 
 

The following table sets forth revenues from continuing operations and investment in hotel assets 
represented by the following geographical areas (in thousands): 
 
 

  
Revenue For the Year Ended 

December 31,  
Investment in Hotel Assets 

as of December 31, 
  2013  2012  2011  2013  2012  2011 

California  $ 257,418   $ 241,892   $ 224,117   $ 468,033   $ 480,982   $ 496,426  
Florida  124,142   119,841   112,854   244,104   264,248   318,430  
Texas  78,287   75,906   73,014   95,910   104,641   128,749  
Georgia  35,977   35,408   34,012   44,585   100,541   105,526  
Other states  382,926   374,168   348,893   786,227   827,366   886,127  
Canada  14,686   14,911   15,600   14,408   16,786   18,537  

Total  $ 893,436   $ 862,126   $ 808,490   $ 1,653,267   $ 1,794,564   $ 1,953,795  
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24. Quarterly Operating Results (unaudited) 

Our unaudited consolidated quarterly operating data for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 
2012 follows (in thousands, except per share data).  In the opinion of management, all adjustments 
(consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation of quarterly results have been 
reflected in the data. The quarterly results reflect properties no longer owned as discontinued operations 
for all periods presented.  It is also management’s opinion, however, that quarterly operating data for hotel 
enterprises are not indicative of results to be achieved in succeeding quarters or years.  In order to obtain a 
more accurate indication of performance, there should be a review of operating results, changes in 
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for a period of several years. 

2013  
First 

Quarter  
Second 
Quarter  

Third 
Quarter  

Fourth 
Quarter 

Total revenues  $ 208,937   $ 239,856   $ 230,429   $ 214,214  
Loss from continuing operations  $ (27,458 )  $ (28,915 )  $ (8,158 )  $ (19,262 ) 
Discontinued operations  $ 853   $ 6,120   $ 11,947   $ (910 ) 
Net income (loss) attributable to FelCor  $ (26,185 )  $ (18,683 )  $ 3,230   $ (19,866 ) 
Net loss attributable to FelCor common stockholders  $ (35,863 )  $ (28,361 )  $ (6,448 )  $ (29,545 ) 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to FelCor  $ (26,540 )  $ (19,247 )  $ 3,557   $ (20,376 ) 
Basic and diluted per common share data:         

Net loss from continuing operations  $ (0.30 )  $ (0.28 )  $ (0.14 )  $ (0.23 ) 
Discontinued operations  $ 0.01   $ 0.05   $ 0.09   $ (0.01 ) 
Net loss  $ (0.29 )  $ (0.23 )  $ (0.05 )  $ (0.24 ) 
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding  123,814   123,814   123,817   123,827  
Diluted weighted average common shares 

outstanding  123,814   123,814   123,817   123,827  
 

2012  
First 

Quarter  
Second 
Quarter  

Third 
Quarter  

Fourth 
Quarter 

Total revenues  $ 196,376   $ 232,464   $ 222,326   $ 210,960  
Loss from continuing operations  $ (33,027 )  $ (5,582 )  $ (27,595 )  $ (121,107 ) 
Discontinued operations  $ 4,166   $ 17,610   $ 8,040   $ 28,081  
Net income (loss) attributable to FelCor  $ (28,463 )  $ 11,869   $ (19,025 )  $ (92,388 ) 
Net income (loss) attributable to FelCor common 

stockholders  $ (38,141 )  $ 2,191   $ (28,703 )  $ (102,067 ) 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to FelCor  $ (28,157 )  $ 11,554   $ (18,526 )  $ (92,577 ) 
Basic and diluted per common share data:         

Net loss from continuing operations  $ (0.34 )  $ (0.12 )  $ (0.30 )  $ (1.05 ) 
Discontinued operations  $ 0.03   $ 0.14   $ 0.06   $ 0.23  
Net income (loss)  $ (0.31 )  $ 0.02   $ (0.23 )  $ (0.83 ) 
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding  123,665   123,638   123,640   123,635  
Diluted weighted average common shares 

outstanding  123,665   123,638   123,640   123,635  
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December 31, 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 
FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated 100  196  383  166  254  443  
Bloomberg Hotel REIT Index 100  163  232  202  227  291  
S&P 500 Index 100  126  145  148  171  226  

 
Common Stock Information 

 
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCH.” The 

following table sets forth the high and low sale prices for our common stock for the indicated periods, as 
traded on that exchange, and dividends declared per share. 
 

 High  Low  

Dividends 
Declared 
Per Share 

2013         
First quarter $ 6.03    $ 4.71    $ —   
Second quarter 6.47    5.38    —   
Third quarter 6.33    5.49    —   
Fourth quarter 8.23    5.83    0.02   

         
2012         

First quarter $ 4.44    $ 3.00    $ —   
Second quarter 4.75    3.59    —   
Third quarter 5.43    4.35    —   
Fourth quarter 4.82    3.90    —   

 
Stockholder Information 
 

At February 21, 2014, we had approximately 167 record holders of our common stock and 22 
record holders of our Series A preferred stock (which is convertible into common stock).  However, 
because many of the shares of our common stock and Series A preferred stock are held by brokers and 
other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we believe there are substantially more beneficial holders of 
our common stock and Series A preferred stock than record holders.  At February 21, 2014, there were 23 
holders (other than FelCor) of FelCor LP units.  FelCor LP units are redeemable for cash, or, at our 
election, for shares of FelCor common stock. 
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FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated 
Bloomberg Hotel REIT Index 



FelCor, a real estate investment trust, owns a diversified portfolio of primarily upper-upscale and luxury hotels that are 

located in major and resort markets throughout the U.S. FelCor partners with leading hotel companies to operate its hotels, 

which are flagged under globally recognized names such as Fairmont®, Hilton®, DoubleTree®, Embassy Suites®, Renaissance®, 

Marriott®, Sheraton®, Westin®, Wyndham®, Wyndham Grand® and Holiday Inn®, and premier independent hotels.

C O R P O R A T E 
H E A D Q U A R T E R S 

FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated 
545 E. John Carpenter Freeway 
Suite 1300 
Irving, Texas 75062-3933 
Phone: 972.444.4900 
E-Mail: information@felcor.com 
Website: www.felcor.com

A D D I T I O N A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

A copy of FelCor’s Annual Report on Form 
10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission will be furnished, without charge, 
to any stockholder by sending a request to 
Investor Relations at our corporate office or 
by visiting our website.

S T O C K  E X C H A N G E  L I S T I N G S

New York Stock Exchange

Common: FCH
Preferred A: FCHPRA
Preferred C: FCHPRC

C O M M O N  S T O C K

124,050,668 shares outstanding at  
December 31, 2013.

R E G I S T R A R  &  T R A N S F E R 
A G E N T

American Stock Transfer &  
Trust Company 
New York, NY 
www.amstock.com

I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D 
P U B L I C  A C C O U N T A N T S

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Dallas, TX

A N N U A L  M E E T I N G

The 2014 annual meeting of stockholders 
will be held at 10 a.m., May 19, 2014,  
in our corporate offices.

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Thomas J. Corcoran, Jr. 
Chairman of the Board and Co-Founder 
FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated

Chairman of the Board 
Sammons Enterprises, Inc.

Richard A. Smith 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated

Robert H. Lutz 
Lead Independent Director 
FelCor Lodging Trust Incorporated

Chairman of the Board, President 
and Chief Executive 
Wound Management Technologies, Inc.

Glenn A. Carlin 
Executive Vice President, Corporate Devel-
opment and Chief Financial Officer 
Twin Rivers Management Group, Inc.

Robert F. Cotter 
Former President 
Kerzner International Holdings Limited

Christopher J. Hartung 
Director 
Lazard Asset Management

Thomas C. Hendrick 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
TCH Partners

Charles A. Ledsinger, Jr. 
Chairman and Managing Director 
Sunbridge Capital Management, L.L.C.

Robert A. Mathewson 
President 
RGC, Inc.

Mark D. Rozells 
Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer 
Fairmont Raffles Hotels International

S E N I O R  M A N A G E M E N T 
T E A M

Richard A. Smith 
President  
Chief Executive Officer

Troy A. Pentecost 
Executive Vice President  
Chief Operating Officer 

Michael A. Denicola 
Executive Vice President  
Chief Investment Officer

Jonathan H. Yellen 
Executive Vice President 
General Counsel and Secretary

Robert P. Carl 
Senior Vice President 
Director of Design and  
Construction

Michael C. Hughes 
Senior Vice President 
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Jeffrey D. Symes 
Senior Vice President 
Chief Accounting Officer 
and Controller 

O F F I C E R S

Marsha L. Bonner 
Senior Vice President  
Risk Management

Larry J. Mundy 
Senior Vice President 
Deputy General Counsel

Eric U. Nylen 
Senior Vice President  
Development

Bret C. Arriola 
Vice President  
Asset Management

Ronnie D. Breaux 
Vice President  
Asset Management

Anne B. Darnaby 
Vice President  
Design and Construction

Donald J. Falgoust 
Vice President  
Food and Beverage

Debra L. Feldman 
Vice President 
Capital Transactions

Bianca S. Green 
Vice President 
Associate General Counsel

Michelle K. Hayes 
Vice President  
Asset Management

Michael L. Hunter 
Vice President  
Property Taxes

Melissa A. Kendrick 
Vice President  
Project Management

David W. Kohutek 
Vice President  
Engineering

Jan Kuehnemann 
Vice President  
Capital Transactions

David W. McGivney 
Vice President 
Income Tax

Charles N. Nye 
Vice President 
Associate General Counsel

Stacy A. Picone 
Vice President 
Assistant Controller

Stephen A. Schafer 
Vice President 
Strategic Planning and 
Investor Relations

Frank J. Solano 
Vice President 
Asset Management

C O R P O R A T E  &  S T O C K H O L D E R  I N F O R M A T I O N



F E L C O R  L O D G I N G  T R U S T  I N C O R P O R A T E D

5 4 5  E .  J O H N  C A R P E N T E R  F R E E W A Y,  S U I T E  1 3 0 0 
I R V I N G ,  T E X A S  7 5 0 6 2
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